Graduate Student Experiences of Indigenous Studies in Post-Secondary Education:

A Comparative Study of Norway and Canada

A thesis submitted to the

College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

In Partial Fulfillments of the Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Arts

In the Department of Indigenous Studies

University of Saskatchewan

Saskatoon

By

Elle Sina Raanes Sørensen

© Copyright Elle Sina Raanes Sørensen, April 2023. All rights reserved.

Unless otherwise noted, copyright of the material in this thesis belongs to the author

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other uses of materials in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Indigenous Studies 135 Kirk Hall, 117 Science Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5A2 Canada

OR

Dean
College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies
University of Saskatchewan
116 Thorvaldson Building, 110 Science Place
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5C9 Canada

ABSTRACT

Indigenous Studies is a newer discipline in post-secondary institutions. In the current literature, much focus has been given to the emergence of the discipline, key qualities and concepts significant in shaping the discipline, and the goals and future of Indigenous Studies. However, at the time of this study, no attention has been given to the experiences of students within the discipline. This study intends to help fill the gap in the literature by exploring what the expectations and experiences of Indigenous Studies alumni in Norway and Canada are, and what this tells us about Indigenous Studies programs in these countries. Through semi-structured interviews and conversational method alumni from four different, yet comparable Indigenous Studies programs in Norway and Canada have shared their experiences in their master's programs. By analyzing these experiences through an anti-colonial framework this study demonstrates that there are inconsistencies in the quality, depth, and breadth of Indigenous Studies master's programs in Norway and Canada, and a gap between student expectations and their actual experiences.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to my amazing participants; Yada, Leonora, Millie, MJ, Sam, Louise, Yahlnaaw, Natalie, Corbin, Leon, and Ira. I am very grateful for your participation in this research and your willingness to share your time and stories with me.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Winona Wheeler for her unwavering support, guidance, and feedback throughout this journey. I could not have done this without her. I would also like to thank my committee member Dr. Robert Innes. Not only did he provide insightful suggestions, but I also had the chance to work with him on a separate project that has taught me much about Indigenous Studies research. Many thanks to my committee member, Dr. Bonita Beatty as well, for her valuable suggestions and constructive comments.

A very special thank you to my late grandmother, Karen Ann Sorensen. She was my biggest supporter and my constant. She pushed me to challenge myself and to be the best version of myself. Her support and long phone calls were essential to my perseverance throughout my first year in this program, navigating graduate school in a new city, during the first year of the pandemic.

Many thanks to my dad, Bent, and my siblings, Maia, Lukas and Milla for their continuous support and encouragement. Thanks to my extended family as well for their support. Significantly Grandpa (Peter) and Lisa for hosting me during my many trips to Vancouver, and Louise for assisting me when I first moved to Saskatoon.

I would also like to extend a thanks to my amazing peers in the Indigenous Studies program for their unwavering support and friendship. They made this journey feel a lot less isolating. Lastly, I would like to thank everyone in my Saskatoon bubble. I am so grateful to have met so many amazing people over the past few years, who have reminded me to enjoy life and have fun.

Ollu giitu!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1. Emergence of Indigenous Studies as a Discipline	6
2.2. What is Indigenous Studies?	8
2.3. Indigenous Educational Institutions	11
2.4. Student Experiences	13
2.5. Summary	16
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	18
3.1. Methods	19
3.1.1. Master's Programs	19
3.1.2. Alumni Interviews	20
3.1.3. Challenges of Methods	24
3.2. Theoretical Framework: Anti-Colonial Theory	25
CHAPTER 4: GRADUATE STUDENT EXPERIENCES IN INDIGENOUS STUDIES	28
4.1. Alumni Introduction and Student Demographics	28
4.1.1. Participant Introduction	29
4.1.2. Student Demographic in Alumni's Cohorts	32
4.2 Alumni Expectations	33

4.2.1 Alumni Expectations of Indigenous Focus in Indigenous Studies Program Ci	urriculums35
4.2.2 Indigenous Faculty	36
4.2.3. Community Oriented Programs	37
4.2.4. Additional Expectations	37
4.3. Indigenous Studies Master's Programs	38
4.3.1. Program Structure	40
4.3.2. Program Focus	40
4.3.3. Faculty	42
4.3.4. Students	42
4.3.5. Courses and Activities	43
4.4. Alumni Experiences Based on Their Expectations	43
4.4.1. Alumni Experiences of Indigenous Focus in Indigenous Studies Program Co	urriculums44
4.4.2 Experiences with Indigenous and Non-Indigenous Professors	50
4.4.3. Community Oriented Experiences	53
4.4.4. Additional Experiences	56
CHAPTER 5: LESSONS LEARNED FROM ALUMNI EXPERIENCES	59
5.1. Analytical Approach	59
5.2. Indigenous Studies Program Goals Reflect the Discipline's Goals	61
5.3. How well are the Discipline Goals Reflected in Alumni Experiences?	65
5.4. Indigenous Studies in a Global Context – Comparing Norway and Canada	73
5.5. Conclusion	78
REFERENCES	81
Appendix A: Interview Questions	89
Appendix A. Interview Questions	0)
Tables:	
	32
Table 1: Alumni Profiles	
Table 1: Alumni Profiles Table 2: Alumni Expectations	

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The discipline of Indigenous Studies (INDGST) has been substantially discussed in academia since its emergence in post-secondary institutions in the 1960s. It is an increasingly important discipline for the visibility of Indigenous peoples in academia, and for the important work it does in challenging hegemonic research concepts and knowledges. The discipline challenges the hegemony by bringing in academically new and diverse theories, methodologies, and understandings of both the research process and of research itself. Since INDGST is a newer discipline in post-secondary institutions, it is constantly shifting and restructuring to fit into western post-secondary institutions. As an academic discipline, part of its role is to educate emerging INDGST scholars. In the research that exists, most focus on the role of professors or scholars in the discipline rather than looking at the experiences of INDGST students. No study looks at the experiences of students in INDGST programs or analyzes INDGST in post-secondary institutions from a student perspective.

This research aims to help fill this gap in the literature by studying graduate student alumni experiences in INDGST programs. Since INDGST is a global discipline, this study focuses on the experiences of graduate students in two countries: Norway and Canada, which allows for global and comparative perspectives. Focusing on graduate student experiences in INDGST unlocks an important perspective on the significance of the discipline. Students have unique knowledge of the inner workings of INDGST programs and can provide an overview of the quality, breadth, and depth of their experiences. By discussing their expectations for their master's programs and elaborating on their experiences in relation to these expectations, students can showcase how well they believed INDGST programs lived up to the global standards of the discipline. This allows for an analysis of INDGST in post-secondary institutions today in relation to student experiences and the standards of the discipline. This study, therefore, seeks to explore what the expectations and experiences of alumni are in INDGST programs in Norway and Canada and what this tells us about the programs in these countries. By exploring the experiences of INDGST alumni, we can begin to understand what INDGST looks like as an educational unit and how well they met disciplinary and student expectations. This research

shows that there are inconsistencies in the quality, depth, and breadth of Indigenous Studies master's programs in Norway and Canada and a gap between student expectations and their actual experiences.

The global focus of this research grew out of a desire to understand the position of INDGST in both Norway and Canada. I am Sámi. I am Canadian. I am Norwegian. I grew up in Tromsø in Northern Norway to a Norwegian dad and a Sámi and Canadian mom. Throughout my childhood, we visited Canada several times, living there for an extended period of time on two separate occasions. I used to say that I grew up between continents. As I got older, I quickly realized that my academic interests were deeply connected to my Indigenous identity. Yet, I did not know where this would lead me. I decided to move to the United States to pursue an undergraduate degree, where I graduated in the spring of 2020 with a double major in Anthropology and Global Studies (with a concentration in development and social justice) and a minor in Native American and Indigenous Studies. It was through this minor that I first got to explore INDGST. I was able to take courses that allowed me to be fully immersed in my Indigeneity and that offered an education grounded in Indigenous perspectives and ways of knowing, something I had never been exposed to previously. I felt at home and knew that I wanted to continue in the same direction. I, therefore, decided to explore options for graduate school in INDGST.

When I started looking for graduate programs I looked to Norway as I was somewhat homesick but had learned from a friend familiar with the only INDGST program in Norway that the program was multi-disciplinary and as such did not provide a degree that was entirely grounded in Indigenous topics and ways of knowing. Although a multi-disciplinary degree has the potential to provide a well-rounded education in INDGST, I had received the impression that this specific program lacked an Indigenous focus in most of their program courses that were offered by different departments than the Center for Sámi Studies (SESAM) which hosts the program. For my own education, I therefore ended up in Canada instead, as I found several INDGST programs across the country that were hosted by INDGST departments, and that had a global approach to the discipline, which suited my interests. After starting my own program in Canada, I continued to ponder whether I had been too quick to judge the program in Norway. Did the multi-disciplinary structure of the program impact its ability to provide a well-rounded

INDGST education for its students? I therefore decided to study the experiences of alumni in INDGST programs to see what factors impacted students' experiences. My primary research question is: what were the experiences of alumni in INDGST programs in Norway and Canada? In order to answer this larger question, this research studies the experiences of alumni from four comparable universities and ask the following questions: (1) what are the standards and criteria of the discipline of Indigenous Studies?; (2) what are the similarities and differences between student experiences in both countries?; (3) how well were their expectations met based on their experiences?; (4) what factors impacted students' experiences?; and (5) what does this tell us about how well these INDGST programs meet the standards of the discipline at these institutions? I believe INDGST is a very important discipline as it has an important role in shaping the future of education and shaping the minds of emerging INDGST scholars. INDGST programs' ability to convey the foundational goals of the discipline to their students is therefore very important.

This thesis focuses on the experiences of INDGST alumni from four separate yet comparable INDGST programs in Norway and Canada. Since Norway only has one INDGST program located at the University of Tromsø (UiT) where a master's degree is the highest degree offering, I sought programs with similar degree offerings in Canada. I found three comparable programs at the University of Winnipeg (UW), the University of Lethbridge (UL), and the University of Northern British Columbia (UNBC). My research therefore focuses on the experiences of alumni from these four universities to understand how well their expectations were met based on their experiences, and what this can tell us about INDGST programs at these institutions. Even though all four programs are comparable in relation to their degree offering, they are all structured in different ways, ranging from a multi-disciplinary structure to a cohort structure. Alumni experiences will therefore also inform whether the structure of their programs impacted their experiences.

Chapter 2 provides a review of existing literature on the emergence of INDGST. This review is organized into four sections. The first section focuses on the emergence of INDGST as a discipline and how it found its place in post-secondary institutions. The second section explores what INDGST is, describing what early scholars argued were important to the discipline, an overview of the goals and visions for the discipline and how the discipline has

been shaped since. The third section outlines Indigenous-run educational institutions to study how Indigenous Studies has been created by Indigenous peoples in an Indigenous context. The last section looks at student experiences, focusing on Indigenous student experiences in post-secondary education, as there is no literature at the time of this study that looks at the experiences of students in INDGST programs.

Chapter 3 describes the methodology of this research project. Here, I elaborate on the methods and methodologies used, explaining the research participant criteria, the data collection process and the limitations of this research. This chapter also describes the anti-colonial theoretical framework that informs my analysis.

Chapter 4 provides the research data. This chapter is divided into four sections. The first part of the chapter introduces the participants and outlines their explanation for why they chose to complete a degree in INDGST. In the next section, I outline alumni expectations, providing a chart that highlights the most common expectations among participants. Then I introduce all four programs, outlining the program descriptions, goals, faculty, courses, and students. The last section focuses on student experiences in relation to their expectations and outlines how well each program met students' expectations.

In the final chapter, I provide an analysis of the research findings, using an anti-colonial framework to inform my analysis as the framework focuses on interrogating the power configurations embedded in our society and the ability of minorities to challenge the hegemonic structures. Student experiences are analyzed to see how well each program met their expectations and if their experiences align with the goals of their programs and the discipline of INDGST. The final chapter also includes a comparative analysis of the programs in Norway and Canada, looking at the similarities and differences between alumni experiences in both countries. The chapter ends with a conclusion and a summary of the research findings.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

This thesis seeks to explore the expectations and experiences of students who graduated from Indigenous Studies (INDGST) master's (MA) programs and the impacts that the structure of INDGST programs in a post-secondary institution may have on these experiences. In the current literature, there has been a lot written on the discipline of INDGST worldwide. Much of this literature focuses on the emergence of the discipline on university and college campuses, key qualities and concepts significant in shaping the discipline, and the goals and future of INDGST. However, at the time of writing, no major studies have been located on student experiences in INDGST. Studies have been done on Indigenous student experiences in higher education but not on their experiences in the discipline of INDGST specifically. This review focuses on INDGST as a discipline to understand the key knowledges of INDGST and form an understanding of what the founding scholars envisioned for the discipline. This will give me a framework to explore whether the visions and goals of the discipline were experienced by the alumni.

The literature review will start with an overview of the emergence of INDGST as a discipline in post-secondary institutions both in a Canadian and Norwegian context. Then, I will outline the development of the discipline, focusing on early scholars' insight into what the discipline should look like and what scholars today argue are the key aspects of INDGST. This section will elaborate on the emergence of INDGST theories and methodologies, and the goals of the discipline as outlined by INDGST scholars. This will ground my evaluation of student experiences as I analyze whether the goals of INDGST are visible in student experiences. I will also look at Indigenous Education outside western academic institutions to elaborate on the educational opportunities that exist for students in relation to Indigenous topics. Even though I do not intend to focus on other educational opportunities in this thesis, they do deserve mention as they play an integral role in promoting Indigenous histories, knowledges, and cultures in educational institutions. Lastly, I will explore the literature on Indigenous student experiences in post-secondary institutions to give more insight into the challenges that Indigenous students face in western post-secondary institutions. This section focuses on Indigenous students in higher education rather than students in INDGST, as there is no significant research that has been conducted on this topic as of today. This section is important to my research as it looks at the

experiences of Indigenous students in post-secondary institutions and outlines the common grievances that students have with the western education system. Although these students are not in INDGST, they do outline a desire for Indigenous content, Indigenous role models, and Indigenous support systems in their education, all of which can be found in an INDGST program. This emphasized the need for INDGST in western post-secondary institutions.

2.1. Emergence of Indigenous Studies as a Discipline

Several scholars have written on the emergence of INDGST as a discipline in postsecondary education and why the discipline was created. Shona Taner (1999) argues that programs in Native Studies at Canadian universities emerged in the late 1960s in response to First Nations' needs. Taner (1999, 290) highlights that Native Studies was first introduced in Canadian universities at a time when political unrest led to changes in the traditional education system as many believed the universities represented "ivory towers" for only educating the wealthy elite. Students and political activists protested to make higher education more accessible to people who had been under-represented in academia. This point is echoed by Winona Wheeler (2001) who highlights that Native American Studies emerged out of the 1960s civil rights movement and is, therefore, in many ways still considered the intellectual arm of a larger Indigenous movement. In addition to creating space for Indigenous scholars and research in academia, part of the need for the creation of an INDGST discipline is rooted in its supporting role for Indigenous students. Russell Thornton (1978) writes that one of the rationales behind creating the discipline was that INDGST would be helpful in attracting Indigenous students to higher education and helpful in providing cultural support for these students during the educational process. Wheeler (2001, 99) also writes that at its inception, faculty in INDGST were expected to create graduates who would be ready to meet the multifaceted needs for skilled professional workers in Indigenous governments and institutions. Thus, the emergence of INDGST was not only important for current scholars but was also important for the presence, support, and futures of Indigenous students in academia.

Thornton (1978) argues that American Indian Studies emerged differently than traditional disciplines, where the structural entity, meaning the faculty, courses, programs of study, degrees, and departments, came before it emerged as an intellectual entity with a distinct body of knowledge and interests. Based on critiques of the emerging American Indian Studies discipline,

Thornton (1978) outlines the qualities that critics argue should make up a discipline and evaluates INDGST against these standards. He outlines four main elements of a discipline. First, a distinct methodology, where he argues that even though the discipline might develop some in the future, it is not a criterion that they be unique as many disciplines share the same methodologies. Second, unique, abstract concepts, where his argument is similar to the previous, stating that few existing disciplines have unique abstract concepts. Third, legitimate area of concern, where he argues that the discipline is unique as it is endogenous and holistic. And fourth, intellectual traditions, where he highlights that American Indian Studies has largely focused on service to community and argues that this work also needs to be reproduced as research activities to exist as an area in academia (Thornton 1978). Thus, although INDGST emerged in higher education out of a political movement and to get access for Indigenous peoples in post-secondary institutions, INDGST still needed time to be shaped into a discipline with specific methodologies and theories.

In Sápmi, INDGST emerged from grassroots movements demanding recognition as an Indigenous people from the settler governments (Stordahl 2008; Junka-Aikio; Kuokkanen 2005; Olsen 2019; Thingnes 2020). Few people have written articles about the emergence of the discipline, but those who have, describe it as a shift in history. Vigdis Stordahl (2008) argues that discourses around Sámi higher education and research must be understood as an inherent part of academic practice dealing with Indigenous issues and must be interpreted through a framework that reflects the specific features of an Indigenous people and its field of knowledge. She outlines two discourses that emerged in Sámi studies early on, one around who could do Sámi research and one on how to do it. In introducing her chapter, Stordahl (2008) highlights that Sámi Studies emerged in Norway as the government decided to establish a university in the Northern region. A Sami Studies group was established at the Faculty of Social Sciences, however, many Sámi people at the time saw this as a step backwards or as an opposition to their intended goal which at the time was to create a separate Sámi-controlled institution. This is echoed by other scholars as well (Junka-Aikio 2019; Thingnes 2020). Further, many scholars who argue on different topics concerning Sámi Studies highlight that the introduction of the studies into higher education arose from a need to create a space in academia where Sámi people could control the research that was being conducted on them and where Sámi voices would be heard as more than just mere subjects of a research project (Gaski 2013; Junka-Aikio 2019; Keskitalo 1994;

Kuokkanen 2005; Olsen 2019; Thingnes 2020). This echoes the sentiments above, noting that in both North America and Sápmi, INDGST emerged in academia as a need for representation and space in higher education became increasingly important for Indigenous scholars, students and activists.

2.2. What is Indigenous Studies?

INDGST emerged as a structural entity before it emerged as an intellectual entity, meaning that it emerged without set ideas of what INDGST actually encompassed (Thornton 1978). Despite this, what they did know was that the discipline would provide Indigenous perspectives on Indigenous history and life that were missing in universities and that it would reflect the priorities and needs of Indigenous communities (Cook-Lynn 1997). Over time, there have been many discussions on what INDGST should look like as a discipline. These discussions have focused on different topics, including, who can do Indigenous research, what methods, methodology and theories should be used and what makes INDGST theory and methodologies different, and the roles and responsibilities of INDGST to Indigenous communities.

Within INDGST, there have been several discussions on whether non-Indigenous people should do Indigenous research and teach in INDGST. Alf Isak Keskitalo (1994), an early Sámi scholar, outlined the involvement of academia and inter-ethnic relations. One of his key points was that research is a culture-bound phenomenon, which some scholars (Stordahl 2008; Thuen 1995) have analyzed to mean that only Sámi people can conduct research on Sámi issues. In opposition to Keskitalo (1994), most current scholars (Junka-Aikio 2019; Olsen 2016; Öhman 2017) argue that non-Sámi people are just as capable of doing Indigenous research as Sámi scholars are. This opposition, however, might be related to the time gap between these articles, as Keskitalo first presented these ideas at a conference in 1974 when Sámi scholars were trying to incorporate Sámi perspectives in higher education, whereas the latter scholars have written more recently, after Sámi perspectives have already had a place in higher education for some time. In line with the arguments from recent Sámi scholars, but from a Native American scholar's perspective, Elizabeth Cook-Lynn (1997) argues that Indigenous autonomy within the discipline is a crucial condition for its development. She highlights that being Indigenous matters in the development of new epistemologies (Cook-Lynn 1997, 22). In addition to arguments surrounding Indigenous and non-Indigenous scholars, there are also more detailed debates within this topic, specifically on the insider/outsider status of scholars. Robert Innes (2009) argues that it is important for INDGST to participate in the insider/outsider debate, and that it is possible to hold both positions at once, meaning that an Indigenous scholar can be both an insider and an outsider simultaneously. He highlights that this debate is complex and that there are several layers to what it means to be an insider or an outsider (Innes 2009).

Several scholars (Cook-Lynn 1997; Kuokkanen 2000; Kuokkanen 2005; Porsanger 2004; Thornton 1978; Thornton 1998) argue that INDGST needs to create new methodologies, frameworks and theories that are distinct to the discipline. Methodologies and theories have been developed by INDGST scholars across the world, however less in Sápmi than other places (Cram and Philips 2012; Holmes 2000; Kovach 2009; Smith 1999; Wilson 2008). In Canada, for instance, Herman Michell (2015) introduces key aspects of Bush Cree storytelling methodology and argues that sharing stories in education settings validates students' identities as social beings in relationship with others in the community. Melanie MacLean and Linda Wason-Ellam (2006) also discusses storytelling and argues that it is a way to indigenize the curriculum. Further, other scholars use concepts grounded in their native languages to create frameworks and methodologies, such as Bonita Beatty and Arnette Weber-Beeds (2013) who introduced the Cree term *mitho-pimatisiwin*, the good life. They use it as a framework to explore the challenges of helping elderly First Nations into urban areas and how current Aboriginal community practices can teach us how to help foster mitho-pimatisiwin for the elderly transitioning (Beatty and Weber-Beeds 2013). Rauna Kuokkanen (2000) is one of the few names that stand out in Sápmi that addresses Sámi methodologies. Kuokkanen (2000, 411) argues for the need of Indigenous paradigms to both decolonize Indigenous minds and re-center Indigenous values and cultural practices by placing Indigenous peoples in the center of discourse. She outlines some of the key characteristics and needs for an Indigenous paradigm. Further, in a different article, Kuokkanen (2005) offers a Sámi methodology that she bases in the language and is focused on the concepts of láhi and attáldat, two concepts of gift-giving. In addition to Kuokkanen (2005), a book recently published on Indigenous research methodologies in a Sámi context include some chapters on new methodologies. A chapter by Jelena Porsanger, Irja Seurujärvi-Kari and Lydia Nystad (2021) introduces the concept of muittašit ovttas 'shared remembering' and use the concept as a relational Indigenous method, framing it in the shape of $s\phi lje$, Sámi traditional jewelry, to explain the framework.

Another key aim of INDGST, as argued by many scholars (Anderson and Cidro 2019; Cook-Lynn 1997; Castleden, Morgan and Lamb 2012; Schnarch 2004), is that research should bring positive change to Indigenous peoples and their communities, that research should be beneficial for the communities, and should be conducted for the benefit of Indigenous peoples rather than for the benefit of research itself. Innes (2010, 2) also supports this as he argues that the three goals of INDGST should be: to access, understand, and convey Native cultural perspectives; to conduct research that benefits Native people and/or communities; and to employ research methods and theories that will achieve these goals. These goals are widely agreed upon by scholars in the discipline (Castleden, Morgan and Lamb 2012; Cook-Lynn 1997; Gaski 2013; Junka-Aikio 2019; Kuokkanen 2005; Öhman 2017; Peacock 2013; Trimmer, Hoven and Keskitalo 2020; Virtanen, Olsen and Keskitalo 2021).

Tsiania Lomawaima, one of the founding members of the Native American and Indigenous Studies Association (NAISA), articulated some of the common themes she witnessed emerging from INDGST. These themes were:

A commitment to the fundamental concept of sovereignty; a privileging or centering of Native names, experiences, voices, and narratives; an inclusive orientation that favors multiple, complicating, diverse perspectives over a monolithic "one size or story fits all" approach; a commitment to the health, well-being and vigor of life in Indian country; responsiveness to the central issues and concerns of Native nations; a dedication to transform the institutional structures of the dominant society, such as schools, colleges, and universities – however frustratingly slow and incremental that process can be (Lomawaima 2007, 1).

These themes are similar to those mentioned above, emphasizing the importance of centering Indigenous voices and experiences, focusing on relevant current issues, and doing so in a way that respects the diverse backgrounds and cultures of INDGST scholars, drawing on appropriate theories and methodologies. Lomawaima (2007) also expressed the importance of INDGST as a discipline for change, something that can transform the institutional structures of the dominant society, which reflects the work of Thornton (1978) and other early scholars.

The initial discussions around the discipline and its key aspects are focused on the methods and methodologies of research and the purpose that research should have in the

discipline, specifically in relation to being community connected. However, little of the conversation is focused on the teaching of INDGST and what scholars envision students will get out of it. The main focus has been on shaping the discipline as a research field, rather than how the discipline operates as an educational program for students in INDGST.

2.3. Indigenous Educational Institutions

In addition to having INDGST as a discipline in post-secondary institutions, there are also Indigenous run educational institutions. Although my focus for this thesis is on student experiences in the discipline of INDGST in western post-secondary institutions rather than on Indigenous run educational institutions, it is important to note that other educational options for studies related to Indigenous topics do exist in both Canada and Norway as they offer an alternative approach to Indigenous topics. INDGST is only one of the pathways in higher education that focuses on introducing Indigenous perspective to students. I am choosing to include this section on alternative Indigenous educational institutions as I think it is important that there are other spaces beyond the mainstream universities that offer Indigenous education, and that INDGST is not alone in teaching Indigenous perspectives and grounding their teachings in Indigenous knowledge. Further, Indigenous run educational institutions shows that having autonomy over your programs and courses allows for more flexibility to ground the education in Indigenous ways of knowing, whereas INDGST programs in western post-secondary institutions are more restricted by the requirements and standards of western ways of knowing. This shows that there is a need for INDGST programs to gain more autonomy over their programs in order to create a space that is further grounded in the goals of the discipline.

The Navajo people in Arizona were the first to create a tribally controlled college in the world in 1968 (Ambler 2005). Now there are many tribal colleges all over the world. Marjane Ambler (2005, 1) writes that the idea of education being a path out of poverty is not necessarily true in places where education is controlled by the colonizer. Thus, by creating their own institutions, Indigenous peoples are able to control their own education, focusing on topics and subjects that are more relevant to Indigenous communities. Cheryl Bull and Justin Guillory (2018, 96) also argue that the goal or core mission of tribal colleges are to rebuild Indigenous nations by focusing the education on tribal histories, languages, and cultures. They highlight that the importance of tribal colleges is that they are rooted in self-determining locations; they were

created by Indigenous peoples, for Indigenous peoples, both in the present and future (Bull and Guillory 2018, 96). Thus, these colleges are an alternative route for students that wish to get an education that is grounded in their own culture and background, rather than attending an institution that is structured by the same framework and worldview that previously sought to eradicate them. In a report by the American Indian Higher Education Consortium (1999), they highlight that tribal colleges were a response to the higher education needs of American Indians, especially for people who lived in geographically isolated areas, with no other means of accessing post-secondary education. As such, they have a similar emergence story as the discipline of INDGST, except more radical because they created entire institutions focused on educating Indigenous peoples, specifically in more rural areas, rather than creating a discipline that would fit within the structures of a western institution.

In Sápmi, the Sámi University College in Kautokeino, Norway, was the first fully independent Indigenous educational institution established. The College opened in 1989, giving Sámi students an opportunity of attending a higher education institution that was structured in their language, for the very first time (Thingnes 2020). Jorunn Thingnes (2020) states that the goal of the institution is to operate in the Sámi language, which makes the College one of the few institutions of higher education in the world that operates in an Indigenous language. Vuokko Hirvonen (2009, 52) also writes that the aim of the college has been to create teaching and research programs that are based on Sámi values and that consider Sámi linguistic, cultural, and educational needs. She states that the college is a leading Sámi institution in teaching and research, emphasizing that the College is also a tool by which sovereignty can be increased (Hirvonen 2009).

Tribal colleges and INDGST programs in universities have similar goals in wanting to create an educational space that draws on Indigenous knowledge and histories, and that is more familiar to Indigenous students than most western institutions are. However, tribal colleges have the power to structure their institutions more freely as they are created and operated by Indigenous peoples, whereas INDGST programs are more constricted by the structures of the western educational institution and can only navigate their discipline within these predetermined borders. This study does not focus on tribal colleges because very few have MA programs to compare to mainstream ones. Rather, this study focuses on the ways in which the discipline and

students navigate the complexities of being within an institution that historically has excluded their people and their perspectives from education, and how they challenge notions of education and of learning by including marginalized perspectives.

2.4. Student Experiences

There has been no research conducted on educational experiences of students in INDGST MA programs. Of the research available, scholars have focused on the role of the discipline to educate non-Indigenous students and the challenges professors face in doing so (Hollinsworth 2014; McGloin 2015; Page 2014). These studies do not include student experiences in INDGST specifically, rather they focus on the teaching experiences of professors (Hollinsworth 2014; Page 2014). There is also research on the experiences of Indigenous students in higher education in general, but nothing specified to INDGST. As there is no research available on the experiences of students in INDGST this section instead focus on the research that does exist to give an overview of what Indigenous students desire from western post-secondary institutions. I will start by outlining what scholars say on the topic of teaching INDGST and how scholars navigate this position in meeting non-Indigenous students. As INDGST programs are open to both Indigenous and non-Indigenous students, it is important to understand how having non-Indigenous students in their courses may impact the way professors approach their teachings. I will then explore the research available on Indigenous students' experiences in higher education overall, focusing on the challenges that students face, as well as the proven positive influences that exist in academia when Indigenous students are exposed to more Indigenous presence and perspectives in post-secondary institutions.

Susan Page (2014) looks at challenges in INDGST classrooms. She highlights that teachers face challenges in educating non-Indigenous students on Indigenous topics, as students often come with biases and preconceived notions of Indigenous peoples and cultures. Another research study by Colleen McGloin (2015) highlights the importance of INDGST as both a tool to teach anti-colonialism and as a forum for Indigenous knowledge production. She focuses on the responsibilities of non-Indigenous students in INDGST and argues that "hearing with a sentient knowledge of our – non-Indigenous people's - position within the colonial relations of power that structure all societal institutions, can be a starting point for productive non-Indigenous/Indigenous alliances" (279). Thus, highlighting the important role the discipline can

have in educating and creating non-Indigenous allies. A study from Australia, however, argues that even though the notion of white supremacy can distinctly identify white privilege, it also promotes even greater resistance to learning in Aboriginal Studies classes from non-Indigenous students, as students argue that individual and structural racism and white privilege are "not their fault" (Hollinsworth 2014, 412). Thus, educating non-Indigenous students in the discipline have had conflicting results; on the one hand students want to learn and engage in their position as allies, and on the other are being hesitant to learn about Indigenous topics. This is generally because they struggle with their positionality as non-Indigenous peoples, grappling with the negative history of Indigenous people's treatment and the role of non-Indigenous people in this history.

Most research focuses more on Indigenous students' experiences generally in postsecondary education, rather than student experiences in INDGST. Kerry Bailey (2020) argues that lateral violence is a serious concern for Indigenous students and that the colonized university environment continues to exacerbate the problem. She discusses, however, the developing awareness among Indigenous students and their strategies that enable them to move beyond the lateral violence and find success, through creating safe/supportive spaces, peer support and selfawareness (Bailey 2020). Brian Brayboy et.al. (2012) also argues that the success of Indigenous students depends on institutional practices and tribal-national support. This is echoed by Patrick Walton et.al. (2020) who identify the key supports and obstacles related to Indigenous university student persistence. Through interviews and surveys on student experiences in higher education, their research show that having Indigenous role models on campus is vital to the retention and persistence of students. In connection to having Indigenous role models, students also expressed the high value of course readings, activities and assignments that were relevant to them, such as experiential application of theory to practice, small group discussions rather than larger lectures, and readings that are inclusive of Indigenous perspectives, authors and researchers (Walton et.al. 2020). Several other studies have also shown that culturally relevant curriculum is vital to students' success (R.A. Malatest, 2010; R.A. Malatest 2002; Marroquín, 2020; Oxendine Taub and Cain 2020; Restoule et al., 2013; Walton et al, 2020). R.A. Malatest (2010, 10) writes that universities should develop course materials that are relevant and culturally sensitive to provide students with a sense of pride in their own culture. They also state that this type of curriculum

should be provided by an Indigenous teacher who can serve as a role model for students. It is clear in this literature that students seek out both Indigenous curriculums and faculty in order to feel more connected to their culture and more at ease in post-secondary institutions as it is more familiar and acknowledges their background in an academic setting.

In an anthology edited by Karen Trimmer, Debra Hoven and Pigga Keskitalo (2020) Indigenous postgraduate students contributed chapters on their experience in higher education. The editors and graduate students share experiences from Sápmi, Australia and Canada. This book shines light on the education system and how Indigenous students navigate it, also highlighting the importance of Indigenous faculty and support within the education system to succeed (Trimmer, Hoven and Keskitalo 2020). Kajsa Gjerpe (2020) a Sámi woman from Norway, writes that her post-secondary success is partly due to the support of supervisors and colleagues, highlighting the need for Indigenous role models. Hanna Helander (2020, 190), also a Sámi woman but from Finland, wrote about the challenges of going through her elementary education learning barely anything about her own people and their history, which lead her to seek out Sámi research topics for her master's and doctoral degrees. As an educator in the Finnish school system, she sought to teach students as much as possible about Sámi people to help address the lack of Sámi perspectives in education that she experienced as a student. Michael Adams (2020) who is Indigenous to Australia, also writes about the need for Indigenous perspectives in education and concludes that even though Indigenous perspectives and knowledges are being included in university curriculums and teaching practices to help academic professionals meet the needs of Indigenous students, the universities still do not understand the importance or the value of recruitment and retention of Indigenous students. Thus, Indigenous perspectives in coursework is an important step towards making Indigenous students feel more seen and finding schoolwork more relevant to their lived realities, but it is not sufficient alone to improve the higher education experience for Indigenous peoples. Attention also needs to be paid to the alternative challenges that Indigenous students face.

A study conducted by Indspire (2018), an Indigenous-led charity that works to advance the educational outcomes of Indigenous peoples found that lack of funding for education was a big issue for students and played a critical role in their educational success (Indspire 2018). Further, they noted that students struggled due to the lack of Indigenous topics in curriculums

and a lack of Indigenous visibility, representation, and support in universities (Indspire 2018). These sentiments echo those above who note that Indigenous representation and resources are important for Indigenous students' success in post-secondary institutions.

Several scholars (Herbert 2010; Kirkness and Branhardt 2001; Ottmann 2017; Wilson 2001) analyze existing studies on student experiences and agree on the importance of adapting post-secondary education to be more inclusive of Indigenous themes. Verna Kirkness and Ray Branhardt (2001) for instance, argue that the under-representation of Indigenous students in post-secondary institutions is due to the lack of understanding from the university. They argue that by including the four R's – respect, relevance, reciprocity and responsibility in schools, Indigenous students will have better chances of succeeding as their realities will be better reflected and understood.

Most of the research on the experiences of Indigenous students focuses on how to better adapt academia for Indigenous students by making culturally relevant curriculums and providing support systems that students can rely on. It shows that Indigenous students want more Indigenous content as it is more relevant to them and their lived experiences. However, little of this research directly reflects on the experiences of INDGST students. This creates a gap in the literature as majority of research around the discipline has either focused on the role of INDGST as a research field, or the experiences of Indigenous students in post-secondary institutions generally. My research will add to this body of literature by researching the experiences of graduate students in INDGST, combining these two subjects of research.

2.5. Summary

Most of the existing research focuses on the formation of the discipline, the focus of the discipline, and the ways in which it can be used to further research on topics pertaining to Indigenous peoples. This will inform my analysis and provide a framework for the goals of INDGST. This also provides a point of comparison, to analyze how well student experiences aligns with the goals of INDGST as outlined by early INDGST scholars. There is also some research on Indigenous voices in academia, which clearly outlines that Indigenous students value Indigenous perspectives and visibility in their education as it improves their educational experience. This shows the need for INDGST programs in post-secondary education. However,

none of the literature on INDGST as a discipline focuses on teaching and its responsibility and goals in relation to educating emerging INDGST scholars. The literature also does not speak to what student experiences in INDGST were and whether or not student expectations were met. My research aims to add to the current literature by exploring students' experiences in INDGST in a comparative context in Norway and Canada. The goal of my research is to understand how INDGST MA programs align with student expectations and how the goals, curriculum, and structure might impact the correlation between expectations and reality as well as elaborate on the potential differences between Canada and Norway. I will assess how well student experiences meet the goals of the discipline.

¹ The discipline of Indigenous Studies has since its emergence, and still today operated under many names. In addition to Indigenous Studies, it has been named: First Nation Studies (Thornton 1978), Native Studies (Taner 1999), Native American Studies or American Indian Studies (Wheeler 2001) in North America; Maori Studies (Cram and Philips 2012) in New Zealand; Aboriginal Studies (Hollinsworth 2014) in Australia; Hawaiian Studies (Komeiji et.al. 2019) in Hawaii; and Sámi Studies (Gaski 2013; Stordahl 2008) in Sápmi.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

The literature review demonstrated that no attention has been paid to student experiences in Indigenous Studies (INDGST) in the current literature. This study seeks to help fill this gap by determining if master's (MA) programs met student expectations and what the overall experiences of students were in their program. In order to answer this question my research takes a multimethod approach including: (1) A comparative study of the goals and curriculum of four comparative master's programs, three in Canada and one in Norway; (2) semi-structured interviews and conversational method interviews with alumni from those four master's programs, and; (3) analyzes of the research findings through an anti-colonial framework.

Given the lack of studies on student experiences in INDGST MA programs I needed to speak directly with alumni of INDGST MA programs. Since Norway only offers one INDGST program at the University of Tromsø (UiT), where the highest degree offering is a MA degree, I found three comparable programs in Canada; University of Winnipeg (UW), the University of Lethbridge (UL) and the University of Northern British Columbia (UNBC) as all three offer terminal MA programs. In addition to the lived experiences of INDGST alumni I was also interested in a comparative study between Norway and Canada. A comparative study provides insight into how individual programs interpret and implement the goals of the discipline.

By choosing to do research with INDGST alumni, and including their perspectives in my research, I was able to get a deeper connection to the topic and help give a voice to students that predominantly only get to use their voice as a researcher in their own work. The methodology in my research is shaped by my positionality and understanding of INDGST as described above. To collect data my methodology uses a qualitative research design. Through semi-structured interviews and conversational method, drawing on aspects of Margaret Kovach's (2009) methodological framework, I interviewed alumni from four different, yet comparable programs to map their experiences in INDGST. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the interviews were conducted over zoom, which hindered the relational aspect that is so important in Indigenous research. However, as a fellow graduate student, it was easier to build rapport with participants, despite the online nature of the research. Drawing also on the aspects discussed in the literature

review around research being conducted for the sake of the community (Anderson and Cidro 2019; Cook-Lynn 1997; Castleden, Morgan and Lamb 2012; Innes 2010; Schnarch 2004), it was important for me to help give a voice to students because they have the potential to bring about change to the programs in the future, so that new students may benefit from the honesty and reflectiveness of the people who generously agreed to participate in my research. Even though the research does not directly benefit the alumni I interviewed, I hope it can benefit future students, if INDGST programs understand student experiences better and adjust their programs to better meet student expectations and needs.

I chose to use anti-colonial theory to navigate the themes that emerged after my conversations with INDGST alumni because anti-colonial theory interrogates the hegemonic structures of our society, similar to what INDGST does. The theory argues that power and discourse is not entirely possessed by the colonizer, rather the colonized has the power to challenge oppressive structures of power and privilege, which is reflected in INDGST programs and alumni experiences and will be explained more in depth further on. INDGST is in a challenging position as it simultaneously seeks to challenge western notions of knowledge, while still being located in a western institution, where it has to follow certain guidelines and rules that are set out by universities. Anti-colonial theory, therefore, guides my analysis as it focuses on the concepts of power and privilege, as well as the issues emerging from colonial or colonized relations, something that is increasingly visible in INDGST, both in the discipline itself, and through the knowledge that it instills in students on the history of settler-colonialism and on the resilience and resistance of Indigenous peoples in navigating a system that was not created for them.

3.1. Methods

3.1.1. Master's Programs

Previous to doing my interviews I reviewed online platforms of post-secondary institutions across Canada and Norway that offered INDGST MA programs to get an overview of what they offer and how they are structured at various institutions. As Norway only has one INDGST program at UiT, I decided to focus on universities in Canada that were comparable to

this program, namely, UL, UW, and UNBC. I reviewed each program's website and using an excel spreadsheet I mapped their programs, charting; the breadth and depth of the curriculum, number, and type of degree offerings (BA, BA Hons, MA), number of faculty, number of Indigenous faculty, number of graduates, among other categories (see table 3 in Chapter 4). Charting these categories provided me with background information on what the programs look like and how they present themselves to future students, what their goals are as an educational entity, and what information is available for students to base their expectations on. I also gained a basis for understanding how INDGST programs, departments and faculties are structured and what their course offerings are. Using the institutions' websites as a foundation for gathering statistical information on the various INDGST programs, such as their program description, goals, course offerings and more, assisted me in better understanding student experiences as it deepened my understanding of the programs themselves and provided me with the same background knowledge that was available to students in these programs before they entered the programs, which helped me contextualize some of their expectations.

3.1.2. Alumni Interviews

I conducted interviews with master student alumni from four post-secondary institutions in Canada and Norway, where a MA program is their terminal degree. I interviewed a total of 11 alumni, three each from UiT, UNBC and UW, and two alumni from UL. Although my intended goal was to interview three alumni from each university, it was difficult to locate participants. I interviewed alumni as I wanted my participants to be able to reflect on their overall experience as MA students in their INDGST programs, rather than interviewing students currently in the programs who would only be able to comment on part of the graduate school experience. I interviewed alumni who had graduated within the past ten years (2012-2022) to give insight into the current structures and offerings, and the recent structural changes. I also strove for gender equity within my participants and was able to achieve that in two of the four alumni groups.

I applied the snowballing method to reach additional participants and found others through internet investigation. None of the universities I was focusing on listed their graduates on their websites, so I reached out to the department heads at each university to locate participants. They all graciously agreed to share my call for participants with their alumni,

however only at UiT did this yield any results. The program coordinator for the INDGST MA program at UiT shared my call for participants with alumni who had graduated in 2018 or later. She explained that they re-structured the program in 2018 and it would therefore be more fruitful for my research to interview participants from the restructured program for consistency. I had several alumni reach out to me as a result and scheduled interviews with three of them. With UNBC I had one participant reach out to me using this method, but none from the remaining universities. As such, I found that I had to be creative in reaching the remaining participants. I found some using the snowballing method from my initial participants. Further, I found that although none of the departmental websites listed their alumni, most of the university libraries had a copy of theses that were completed from different departments. I was therefore able to find the names of alumni through the universities' thesis archives. Using google search to find contact information of alumni I was able to reach out to the remaining participants who graciously accepted the invitation to participate in my research. In agreeing to participate, all participants were offered a choice to wave confidentiality, which a few participants chose to do. The majority, however, decided to remain confidential because the small number of graduates from their programs would make it easy to identify them.

Since some participants chose to remain anonymous while others waved their confidentiality, for consistency, all participants are referred to by first names. The anonymous participants are identified with pseudonyms. The latter were given the option to choose their own pseudonyms, four participants chose their own while I assigned random first names to the rest. To protect the anonymity of the participants, certain identifying factors are not included in the demographic profile and analyzes as they may be identified because of the low number of graduates that enter these programs each year. To protect the identity of international students, their nationality is not identified. The exact years the participants attended is also not disclosed. Participants' undergraduate degrees are not disclosed either, with exceptions of participants whose undergraduate degree influenced them to pursue a higher degree education in INDGST as this is relevant to the analysis of the data.

Due to COVID-19 all my interviews were conducted virtually through Zoom. I followed the Oral History Association (OHA) template and guidelines for conducting virtual interviews. The use of the video-conference platform increased engagement with the interviewee as this

made it possible to see facial cues and body language (OHA 2020). OHA (2020) highlights that a video platform allows for added context, such as non-verbal communication and insight into overall interview engagement, which I found true during my interviews, as it made it easier to connect with participants despite the online nature of our conversations. Conducting my interviews over Zoom was beneficial because my participants lived in different areas across Canada and Northern Europe. Doing virtual interviews made it feasible to conduct the interviews as soon as I found participants and was able to schedule them at times that worked best for all without having to travel to each location.

In their qualitative study on the use of Zoom as a tool for conducting qualitative research, Lisa Gray et.al. (2020, 1298) conclude that video conferencing software helps researchers keep research cost relatively low and enables them to gain access to more diverse participant populations, as I was able to do. However, they also highlight that in an online platform, researcher and participants do not occupy the same space which can result in missed opportunities to respond to body language and emotional cues. They also highlight that online interviews may cause interviewees to be in spaces where they have distractions or lack privacy, something I experienced with a couple of participants who at times were distracted by their surroundings. Yet, for the purpose of my research, doing interviews in an online format was more practical, as I was able to conduct the interviews without travel and at convenient times depending on when I found participants. Considering all my participants had completed graduate school recently, they all also had a good understanding and familiarity with technology and using various online platforms, something that made the online interviews feasible. However, I do regret missing out on the face-to-face relational aspect that is so important in Indigenous research. Although it is possible to create connections through online platforms, in-person research and conversations tend to allow for even deeper connection with participants and to create a different sense of relationality than is possible through an online platform. In-person interviews would have been more fulsome as they would have allowed me more time with participants and made it easier to register and reflect on their body language. In-person interviews may also have created more space for follow-up questions as our ongoing relationship would be more relational than online interviews allowed.

The interviews I conducted lasted between 50-60 minutes. I used a multi methods approach consisting of semi-structured interviews and conversational method. Through semistructured interviews I had set questions that gave me more direct answers, with a possibility to broaden the conversation, while conversational method allowed research participants to diverge from the questions and talk about their experience freely without following a specific prompt. Kovach (2010, 46) explains that conversational method is dialogical, relational, and reflective. It allows for the researcher to enter in conversation with the participant, to be an active listener and a participant in their own research as the process is less extractive and one-sided. The interviews therefore started with some prompted questions about the participant's experience in the program including their initial expectations, their choices around the school and program and their overall experience in the program. This allowed me to understand how student experiences reflected the themes that were found in the literature and if they align with program descriptions and goals. From these guiding topics, participants lead the conversation in directions they felt were important to share. They were able to speak freely and express their thoughts and reflections around their experience in INDGST, specifically focusing on the experiences that had stuck with them the most after completing their degree. This became a conversation where we could share thoughts about the experiences of being a graduate student in INDGST. As the interviews were scheduled online through Zoom, part of the relational aspect that Kovach (2010, 46) states as important in the conversational method was not possible in the same way as she outlines it. Kovach (2010) highlights the importance of building rapport with participants and actively engage with the research group or community in preparation for the research. Due to the online nature of my interviews, I was not able to create the same relationality before the interviews. However, using conversational method allowed me to connect more with participants due to the reciprocal nature of this method, despite connecting through an online space.

Here, the insider-outsider debate becomes relevant as my status as both insider and outsider impacted how I connected with participants. As argued by Robert Innes (2009), Indigenous scholars can be both an insider and an outsider simultaneously. Since my research focuses on experiences of graduate students in INDGST, I am an insider as a graduate student in the discipline. This was beneficial as I believe participants felt more comfortable speaking freely about their experiences as our meetings became more of a conversation between peers than

between participant and researcher. I am also an insider as I am Indigenous, which several of my participants were as well. Being Indigenous means that we have a common understanding of the importance that INDGST can have for our communities. It also means that we have to acknowledge the harmfulness that research has caused to Indigenous peoples in the past and understand what role we, as Indigenous peoples can play in academia in relation to that history. However, I am also an outsider in the sense that I do not belong to the same university communities as my participants did. Nor do I belong to the same Indigenous communities as any of my participants. I am also an outsider as my identity is rooted in two places. Although I am a Canadian citizen, I do not have the same lived experiences as other Canadians do, as I did not grow up in this country. I did however grow up in Norway, yet all my participants from UiT were international students, so although I could connect with them in relation to their experience in Tromsø where the university is located, which is also my hometown, we had different experiences as they were viewing their experiences there through an outsider lens whereas I viewed it from the perspective of my identity and background. I am also an outsider as a researcher. In Innes' (2009) article on the insider-outsider debate, he highlights that the lack of distance between a researcher and participants can enhance research and that it does not challenge the validity of the research. I think my role as an insider in various ways, depending on participants, was very beneficial as it allowed for a deeper connection with participants, and an immediate trust and familiarity in experiences and in topics of conversation.

3.1.3. Challenges of Methods

There were a few challenges I had to address in the course of my research. I faced some challenges locating participants. As such, only a limited number of people were contacted to participate in my research. At UL, I located more than three graduates, however, only two were interested in participating. I had also originally intended to interview two women and one man from each program, but as my pool of participants was limited, I only managed to reach the gender equity at two of the four universities, UiT and UNBC. From UW, I interviewed three women and from UL I interviewed two men. I did not limit my participants to only Indigenous alumni in order to reflect the actual demographics of the program. Of eleven participants, six were Indigenous and five non-Indigenous. Five participants were international students, meaning they were students from out of country, five participants were local, meaning they were from the

area where their university was located, and one participant was regional, meaning from the country, but not from the same area as the university.

3.2. Theoretical Framework: Anti-Colonial Theory

According to Sefa Dei and Alireza Asgharzadeh (2001) anti-colonial theory is a framework that interrogates the power configurations embedded in ideas, cultures and histories of knowledge production, validation, and use. It also looks at our understanding of indigeneity, pursuit of agency, resistance, and subjective politics. As such, it allows for the effective theorizing of issues emerging from colonial and colonized relations by using Indigenous knowledge as an important standpoint (Dei and Asgharzadeh 2001). Anti-colonial theory is, therefore, a beneficial framework for my research as I analyze the experiences of Indigenous and non-Indigenous students alike in INDGST, looking at how they navigate the complexities of being in an INDGST program that should be focused on topics, frameworks and ideas that are rooted in Indigenous knowledges, while simultaneously be in a western institution that historically has excluded perspectives that don't align with the hegemonic, western standpoint on research. INDGST is inherently anti-colonial because it challenges the colonial structures and oppressions of society. Interviewing alumni is important for this approach as INDGST alumni have gained skills and knowledges that are rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing and can reflect on the anti-colonial nature of the program through their educational experiences.

Dei and Asgharzadeh (2001) further highlight that the anti-colonial discursive framework argues that power and discourse are not entirely possessed by the colonizer. Rather "the colonized also has the power to question, challenge and subsequently subvert the oppressive structures of power and privilege" (2001, 300). This is what we see with INDGST, where the discipline has managed to establish its base within the university setting, challenging the hegemonic structure that it finds itself within by using notions of Indigenous knowledge, worldviews, and experiences to counter the mainstream ideas and understandings of both research and history. The discipline itself therefore becomes an interesting point of analysis in relation to its position within a western educational institution, as it is able to question the power structures that exist in the larger society, as well as educate students to continue to do the same. As an educational resource, INDGST has the power to teach students how to question the power-

relations they witness around them, as well as to challenge the dominant structure through their research and through their future work as they learn to navigate a system, that for many, especially Indigenous students, was not created for them. Thus, the idea that the colonized is able to challenge oppressive structures of power and privilege is increasingly visible in INDGST. The discipline explores knowledge that is grounded in Indigenous knowledge production and continues to challenge the hegemonic view on history, educating emerging scholars on the inequalities that exist within our society, while simultaneously giving them the tools to navigate these systems and continue to challenge the power relations in our societies.

Choosing to use anti-colonial theory challenges the concept of post-colonial, as 'post' implies that we have moved beyond the structures of inequality. For instance, the term 'post-colonialism' suggests that we have moved beyond the structures of colonialism. However, as Patrick Wolfe (2006) explains, settler colonization is a "structure rather than an event" (390). It is not something that we have moved passed as settler colonization still plays a huge role in the way our society is structured, and impacts people greatly, some people more negatively than others. This is why INDGST is so important, as it brings to light these inequalities that still exist as a result of living in a settler colonial space and proves that there is a need to include alternative perspectives in education in order to understand the complexities of our society.

Anti-colonial theory focuses on the power-relations between the colonizer and the colonized, and the way in which minorities navigate this relationship and work within the hegemonic system to challenge the colonial framework. The theory therefore helps me understand alumni experiences in INDGST as it allows for theorizing to happen from a minority perspective. Students challenge the hegemonic structures that exist both by being in a discipline that is inherently different from the western structure it finds itself within, and by reflecting on their own experiences within the discipline. Their experiences point out the ways in which INDGST can transform even further to continue to challenge the western structured institution of post-secondary education by further grounding their educational programs in Indigenous knowledges, cultures, and worldviews. Anti-colonial theory therefore informs the analysis by allowing me to theorize within this dichotomy between western and Indigenous education and draw on reflections from alumni who find themselves in the middle of this dichotomy to do so. It also informs my analysis as INDGST itself is an expression of anti-colonialism. This

understanding of the discipline allows me to analyze student experiences in INDGST programs and explain the significance of these experiences in relation to how well they align with the goals of the discipline.

As INDGST works to challenge the western structure of education, so do the students in the discipline. Through online interviews and conversations, alumni from four INDGST programs across Canada and Norway were able to share their experiences in INDGST, including their motivations for entering the program and their initial expectations. As we move on to the research findings, the thoughts and reflections that arose as a result of our conversations will be discussed, specifically focusing on the program expectations of alumni, an overview of each program and alumni experiences in relation to their expectations.

CHAPTER 4: GRADUATE STUDENT EXPERIENCES IN INDIGENOUS STUDIES

Indigenous Studies (INDGST) graduate programs are not all the same, but they share common elements. They generally provide a description of their program goals, the curriculum and the experience their program offers. Alumni entered INDGST graduate programs for a range of reasons and had specific expectations. The interviews conducted with alumni from INDGST master's (MA) programs across Canada and Norway provide clear insight into their experiences and whether their programs met their expectations. Participants were asked questions about the structure of their program, their initial expectations, and their overall experiences in the program (see Appendix A, interview questions). Since the methods included semi-structured interviews and conversational method, alumni were able to discuss their experiences freely, only answering the guiding questions if necessary to move the conversation along. Thus, not all of them shared experiences on the same topics, and not all of them gave specific answers to every question in Appendix A. The expectations and experiences vary among alumni, even among those who attended the same university. The following alumni tell us much about how well the graduate programs met their own program goals from their perspectives. Chapter 4 provides the data, Chapter 5 that follows provides analyzes of this data.

This chapter begins with introducing the alumni participants and providing their assessment of the student demographics in their programs during the time they attended to identify some of the similarities and differences between all four programs. This chapter then describes student expectations of their programs, followed by an outline of the structures and contents of each MA program. Lastly, the chapter presents alumni reflections of their experiences and whether or not their program met their expectations. As my main goal is to present student perspectives on INDGST, I predominantly focus on student voices in this chapter by drawing on the interviews so they can tell the story of what INDGST looks like from their perspectives.

4.1. Alumni Introduction and Student Demographics

4.1.1. Participant Introduction

The interview participants include three alumni from the University of Tromsø (UiT), three from the University of Winnipeg (UW) and the University of Northern BC (UNBC) and two alumni from the University of Lethbridge (UL). I interviewed two women and one man from UiT. Leonora, Millie and Yada were all international students and non-Indigenous. From UNBC I interviewed two women and one man. Yahlnaaw, Natalie and Corbin were Indigenous students from Canada. From the UW, I interviewed three women. MJ was an Indigenous international student; Sam was a non-Indigenous international student and Louise was a non-Indigenous Canadian student. And finally, from UL I interviewed two men. Both Leon and Ira were Indigenous from Canada.

Since all the alumni I talked to from UiT were international students, they had similar explanations for why they chose to study at the university. The main reason was because Norway offers free tuition for domestic and international students alike. According to a study done by Jannecke Wiers-Jenssen (2019), there has been an increasing number of international students in Norway in the past decades due to the offer of free higher education, education in a safe country, and an increase in career opportunities after graduation. All three students stated that the alure of free education was strong, especially considering the high costs of higher education in many other countries for international students. Yada and Leonora said they had previous experience with the UiT and partly learned about Sámi people during their time there, along with some of the Indigenous history, culture, and politics in Norway. These piqued their interests enough to apply to the INDGST program at UiT. For Millie, the choice to attend UiT was more random. Millie knew that she wanted to get a degree in INDGST but found that most of the programs in her home country had too much of a local focus compared to the more global perspective of INDGST that she was interested in, and she was especially interested in Indigenous peoples in the arctic. She was also interested in the Sámi/Norway relationship as it was claimed that Norway had a better relationship with Sámi people than many other settler states do with Indigenous peoples, and she wanted to see if there were any experiences, lessons or policies that could be beneficial if applied to other Indigenous-state relationships that she could bring back to her own home country. As UiT is the only university in Norway that offers an INDGST MA program she was drawn to the university and found that the programs hit all the boxes for her; the education was free, she could travel, and it offered the arctic focus.

At UW, participants' reasons for starting the program were more varied. MJ was a mature student who chose to attend the MA in Indigenous Governance at UW for several reasons. For one, it was convenient as she was already living in the area. But she was also interested in the university as it was downtown, which provided a melting pot with a lot of Indigenous presence, something she believed would make it easier to connect with Indigenous communities in the area. MJ was Indigenous herself and grew up in a family where education was highly valued, along with learning about international Indigenous peoples. She chose to study Indigenous Governance as she believed the training would be beneficial to her Indigenous community back home. Louise had a previous contact at UW and a partnership with an Indigenous organization in the area, so she chose the university and the program as it gave her an avenue to focus her thesis on topics related to her job. Sam was more hesitant about the masters in Indigenous Governance as she wanted to do research on urban planning or urban community development with a focus on Indigenous organizations, but there were no programs that focused in that area. She was not sure if Indigenous Governance was the right avenue for her, however, after conversations with faculty in the department she found them to be very flexible and helpful, and they brainstormed ideas of how the program could accommodate her interests.

Similar to MJ at UW, Corbin at UNBC decided to do an MA at the university out of convenience. He had originally intended to apply to graduate programs at other universities as well but missed the application deadlines as they were earlier than the UNBC deadline. He completed his undergraduate in a different field at UNBC but had taken some courses from the First Nation Studies (FNS) department during his undergraduate degree and had some familiarity with the department and professors. As he was familiar with the university and the faculty, he said that "it felt like a, a warm family sort of thing [...] it was comfortable," to be at the university and in the department as he knew what to expect. Yahlnaaw also did her undergraduate degree, in FNS at UNBC and wanted to continue her graduate studies at a university where she would still be close to her family and friends. She had started her undergraduate degree in psychology but moved to FNS as she realized that the only way to truly address some of the issues that she had witnessed in her community was to use a non-settler discipline, meaning a discipline that is not rooted in western and colonial ways of thinking, as the issues she had witnessed and wanted to focus on had a clear correlation to settler colonialism.

The third participant from UNBC, Natalie, did not do her undergraduate degree at the UNBC. She completed a minor in INDGST at a different institution and was drawn to this INDGST MA to create deeper connections with her identity, family and community. She was used to the academic setting but wanted an avenue within academia to connect with community, where her research would allow her to do relational work. Natalie stated that "for me, Indigenous Studies, First Nations Studies, it's all about self-determination [...] Indigenous peoples doing the research that they want to do and doing it in the way that they want to do it." Although her research could have fit in a different discipline, she chose INDGST because of the discipline's commitment to centering Indigenous voices within scholarship and research. While fulfilling her minor requirements in INDGST during her undergraduate degree, she found the department to be a supportive space, where she made friends and had good professors. She was concerned about attending UNBC as she had heard rumors that it had a reputation for being a toxic environment with an unsupportive learning environment. However, she chose it anyway because she wanted to study at a university that would allow her to move closer to her family and community. She also liked the cohort-based structure, which will be explained later in this chapter, as it made it possible for her to work while going to school.

Participants from UL were both mature students who sought further education close to their communities. Leon did his undergraduate degree in FNS in BC, where, although he was surrounded by Indigenous peoples and communities, learning about topics relevant to Indigenous peoples on Vancouver Island, he still felt like an outsider looking in, as he was so far away from his own community. He therefore decided on UL for his master's degree to be closer to his community and his family and continue his education in INDGST in a place more familiar to him. Ira also chose UL to be close to his community. Since he completed his MA over five years, he was able to work full time next to his studies. He had taken Native American Studies (NAS) in his undergraduate degree and knew that it would be flexible in research topics and methods as well, allowing him to choose research topics of interest to him and his community that he felt comfortable exploring.

Table 1: Alumni Profiles

ALUMNI	UNIVERISTY	UNDERGRADUATE DEGREE	GENDER	INDIGENOUS	NON-INDIGENOUS	INTERNATIONAL	DOMESTIC
YADA	UIT	Different discipline	M		Χ	Χ	
LEONORA	UIT	Different discipline	F		Χ	Χ	
MILLIE	UIT	Minor in Indigenous Studies	F		Χ	Χ	
YAHLNAAW	UNBC	Indigenous Studies	F	Х			Х
NATALIE	UNBC	Minor in Indigenous Studies	F	Х			Х
CORBIN	UNBC	Different discipline	M	Χ			Х
MJ	UW	Different discipline	F	Х		Χ	
SAM	UW	Different discipline	F		Χ	Х	
LOUISE	UW	Different discipline	F		Χ		Х
LEON	UL	Indigenous Studies	М	Х			Х
IRA	UL	Indigenous Studies	М	Х			Х

4.1.2. Student Demographic in Alumni's Cohorts

Since most INDGST departments and programs are still small units in post-secondary institutions compared to disciplines that have been around longer, most graduate cohorts are also small. As such, MA students are influenced by their peers through sharing of ideas, reflections, and opinions in class discussions and beyond. Their cohort also helps shape their academic community and support system in their programs. It is therefore important to study the student demographics in the alumni's cohorts to understand how these factors may have impacted their experience in the discipline. The student demographics are based on the following factors: race, sex, domestic, international and age. Although the student demographics are described here, an analysis of their significance to the current study will be addressed in the next chapter.

According to Leonora, the majority of students in INDGST at UiT were women. All three alumni stated that the majority of the students were international. Leonora and Millie's cohorts entirely consisted of international students. Leonora suggested that the high rates of international students were probably a result of Norway offering free tuition for post-secondary education for domestic and international students alike. She also said that Norway does a lot of advertising internationally to recruit students to their universities, highlighting the free tuition and the many programs that are taught in English which further attracts international students to Norway. There were very few Indigenous students in the program overall. Neither Millie nor Yada had any Indigenous students in their cohort. Yada stated that the program didn't attract many Indigenous peoples, especially not Sámi students. Millie added that because there was a lack of Indigenous students, the program created very settler, or non-Indigenous centered space.

Similar to the UiT, the INDGST program at the UW also hosts a majority of female students. Both MJ and Sam stated that there were some international students in their cohort, however, the majority of students were domestic students. Along with having more domestic students, UW also differs from the program in Norway in that most of the students that enter the program are Indigenous students. This is similar to UNBC where majority of students were also Indigenous students. Here, Corbin highlighted that most students were from the surrounding areas, which shows that Indigenous students tend to choose educational institutions close to their communities. All three participants from the UNBC also stated that there were no international students in their cohort, which is different from both the UW and the UiT. However, similar to the other two universities, the majority of students in the program were women. Natalie, from the UNBC, also made an interesting reflection on the age demographic of her cohort. She stated that there was a great age split, with some young students and some mature students. Young students are students who have proceeded through the education system without a long break between their degrees. Mature students are students who have taken time away from academia and reenter the space with more experience and insight from their endeavors outside school. Although age demographics were not explicitly discussed with participants from other universities, all three universities in Canada have a similar combination of young and mature students. This is visible in the age groups of the participants in this research.

From UL, both participants I interviewed were mature Indigenous male students. Since this program is structured differently from the others, it was not possible to study their cohorts the same way. Both participants stated that they were the only student doing an MA in INDGST when they were there. They explained that they had a cohort, however it was a cohort that consisted of students from other departments (sociology, history and psychology) who were also getting their MA degree. Leon, who graduated earlier than Ira, also stated that he was the only identifiable Indigenous student in his cohort, and one of the few at the entire university at the time he was in the program. Ira, who graduated some years later, stated that there were some Indigenous students in his cohort, however he was not sure if they were doing their MA in INDGST or were students from different departments.

4.2. Alumni Expectations

To understand alumni experiences in INDGST, I found it important to consider their expectations before entering the program. Table 2 below charts students' expectations at each university, organized in four categories that highlight their collective most common expectations:

Table 2: Alumni Expectations

ALUMNI	INSTITUTION	INDIGENOUS FOCUS	INDIGENOUS FACULTY	COMMUNITY ORIENTED	OTHER
YADA	UIT	Indigenous cultures and			
		ways of life			
LEONORA	UIT	Indigenous research			
		methodologies and the			
		Sámi context			
MILLIE	UIT	Sámi and Indigenous oriented. Indigenous		Broader focus on	
		ideologies and		Indigenous communities beyond Indigenous-state	
		perspectives		relations. Northern based	
				solutions to arctic	
				challenges	
YAHLNAAW	UNBC	Indigenous research,	Indigenous scholars	Community oriented	
		topics, and peoples			
NATALIE	UNBC	Diverse learning	Indigenous scholars		Be a challenging
		experience that would be grounded in			experience with a higher academic level
		Indigenous topics,			than she had previously
		issues, and challenges.			been exposed to
CORBIN	UNBC	An "intoxicating			Research boundaries to
		learning experience"			be pushed further than
		that would continue his			they had during his
		academic exposure to new and unique topics.			undergraduate degree.
MJ	UW	new and amque topics.		A community oriented	
1413	O W			program that created	
				connections between	
				students and local	
				Indigenous communities	
LOUISE	UW			Allow her to continue	Did not have any big
				developing the work relationship she had with a	expectations, but had questions around her
				local Indigenous	identity as a settler in
				organization.	the discipline.
SAM	UW				Centering her
					coursework around her
					research interests
LEON	UL				Had a general idea of thesis focus before
					entering the program
					but had few
					expectations of how the
					program would assist
					him in working on his project.
ID 4	1	Diale in India			
IRA	UL	Rich in Indigenous content and connected			Gaining more critical thinking skills
		to topics of research			umming smins
		that he was interested			
		in. Also expected to be			
		exposed to Indigenous			
		perspectives			

4.2.1 Alumni Expectations of Indigenous Focus in Indigenous Studies Program Curriculums

Table 2 demonstrates that the majority of the alumni expressed that one of their biggest and main expectations of their INDGST program was to be exposed to an Indigenous focus. This means that alumni expected their INDGST programs to include Indigenous content in the coursework, that the MA would be centered around Indigenous topics, that they would be exposed to Indigenous perspectives and worldviews in their coursework and program, and that their program would reflect Indigenous ways of knowing. Millie, from UiT shared that she was interested in learning more about Sámi people and expected the INDGST program in Norway to be very Sámi and Indigenous focused. Her previous undergraduate experience with INDGST had predominately consisted of looking at the negative aspects of settler-Indigenous relations. For her MA program she was more interested in learning about Indigenous ideologies and to learn how Indigenous peoples in the arctic were making environmental changes and solutions that could be applied other places as well. Entering the program, she also expected to gain deeper insight in Indigenous topics and perspectives, and to dive into Indigenous history, especially in Sápmi. From the same university, Yada stated that he had some previous knowledge about Indigenous concepts and ideas, such as decolonization and traditional Indigenous knowledge, but expected to delve further into studies of Indigenous culture and life. His expectations were very broad, he did not share any specific interests beyond learning more about Indigenous culture and life in general. Leonora, also from UiT, expected to learn more about Indigenous peoples. She specifically expected to learn about Indigenous research methodologies and the Sámi context.

Similarly, Yahlnaaw at UNBC expected to be exposed to Indigenous perspectives, as she had some previous knowledge about the discipline from her undergraduate degree. Yahlnaaw started her undergraduate degree in psychology but realized that the discipline was not right for her as she wanted to address mental health issues in Indigenous communities. In discussing her choice to move over to FNS she said, "it didn't feel right to be using a colonial tool to address the effects of colonialism." Thus, she switched to INDGST and was pleased with her undergraduate experience. In her FNS BA program she found good support systems and found a good mentor who helped her through her undergraduate degree and encouraged her to switch from psychology to FNS. She had very high expectations of her graduate school program and the discipline to provide her with tools to help Indigenous communities.

Natalie also had a background in INDGST and knew that the discipline offered diverse learning experiences, where they would learn from Indigenous academics about Indigenous issues and challenges, using a relational approach. She was therefore expecting something similar at the FNS program at UNBC. Corbin also expected to be exposed to Indigenous perspectives as he had previous experience with UNBC. He had a general idea of what he wanted his thesis to focus on and knew that he could organize his coursework around his interests. Because he had a familiarity with the program, he only had a few additional expectations. Corbin explained his undergraduate experience to be intoxicating and he wanted the academic exposure to continue, from what he had experienced during his undergraduate degree. Ira, at UL also specifically stated that he expected the program to be rich and connected to topics of research that he was interested in. He assumed that an INDGST MA program would include Indigenous perspectives and an Indigenous focus in the coursework.

Although not all students explicitly stated that they expected an Indigenous focus to be present in their coursework, many students conveyed this by expressing their dissatisfaction with their coursework and the lack of Indigenous focus that they were exposed to in their MA programs. This will be further expanded upon below. Alumni also expected their MA program to enable them to center their coursework around topics of interest, or that the program would support and assist them with their work on their chosen thesis topic. As these were INDGST MA programs and alumni, all participants focused their thesis on various topics centering Indigenous peoples, cultures, histories and more.

4.2.2 Indigenous Faculty

I included Indigenous faculty as another expectation alumni had of their INDGST MA programs, even though very few numbers of participants specifically stated this as an expectation. However, they expressed a dissatisfaction with some non-Indigenous professors which suggests it was an expectation. Alumni specifically stated the lack of Indigenous focus and perspectives in coursework was related to non-Indigenous professors teaching the course. Only Yahlnaaw and Natalie at UNBC specifically stated that they expected the faculty of FNS to predominantly consist of Indigenous professors. Natalie stated that she expected to be learning about Indigenous topics from Indigenous peoples as an INDGST program should focus on educating students through an Indigenous perspective.

4.2.3. Community Oriented Programs

Another very common expectation that several participants voiced was community experiences. They wanted their programs to offer aspects of community connections, a way for students to meet and connect with local Indigenous communities. Participants from UiT, UW and UNBC all expressed that they were expecting that their MA programs would provide the opportunity to connect with the local Indigenous communities. Millie, from UiT stated that she expected to be meeting more Sámi people and to be learning from them both in the university setting and outside of the university. She expected the program to either have connections with local Sámi communities or that the program would give them the opportunity to talk to Sámi people about some of the topics they were learning about in school, to further discuss the experiences and learn about the reflections of Sámi people. Millie also expressed that she was interested in learning about how the Nordic countries, along with Indigenous peoples, implement change and solutions in the arctic, to gain ideas of how this could potentially be implemented other places in the world. She hoped the program would be more community oriented than what she experienced during her undergraduate degree where she took a minor in INDGST. She also expected the program to focus on Sámi topics that were significant to Sámi culture and people.

From UW, MJ stated that she expected the program to be community oriented. Being an international student, she felt homesick and wanted to experience cultural events and ceremonies in Winnipeg that would remind her of home, to ease some of those unpleasant feelings. She therefore hoped and assumed that the program would enable her to be engaged in local communities and have the opportunity to participate in cultural events. Louise from the same university also had a community-oriented expectation. She had a pre-existing relationship with an Indigenous organization in Winnipeg that she intended to do her research with, so she expected the program to enable her research and support this relationship as she worked towards her MA thesis. Echoing these sentiments of community connection, Yahlnaaw from UNBC expressed that she expected the program to be more community oriented, and that the department of FNS at the university would have an existing relationship with First Nations peoples in the area.

4.2.4. Additional Expectations

In addition to the categories above, a few participants had specific expectations that were unique from the others. Sam, from UW stated that her biggest expectation was that she would be able to center her coursework around her research interests, as she initially had been unsure if Indigenous Governance was the right avenue for her. Leon from UL stated that he did not have any specific expectations of the program other than the opportunity to focus his research on his specific research interests.

Natalie and Corbin from UNBC, and Ira from UL expected intellectual challenges in their MA programs. Natalie expected to be challenged in her learning experience, specifically that the coursework would be challenging and at a high academic level. Corbin expected boundaries to be pushed in his graduate school experience and that the high academic exposure he had experienced during his undergraduate degree would continue during his MA degree. Ira expected to gain more critical thinking skills during his coursework. All three participant had expectations of being intellectually challenged and to learn new academic skills.

4.3. Indigenous Studies Master's Programs

Students looking for MA programs browse university websites to see what the programs offer to make informed choices about which program they want to take. By looking at the university websites, students get an idea of what to expect when they enter a program and base their expectations of the programs on this information. Before providing an analysis of the alumni's experiences, the following review of the four INDGST programs and what they offered will be provided. Since these public representations of the MA programs are what informed the choices of the alumni it is important context for the analysis of how well each program met their expectations. It is important to note, however, that the data below collected from university webpages is based on the data available at the time of this study. The information available to incoming students at the time my participants applied may be different from what I was able to access, for example, changes in available courses and faculty turnovers may have occurred.

Table 3: Program Descriptions

ĺ					
	University & Location		University of Northern British Columbia, Canada	University of Lethbridge, Canada	University of Winnipeg, Canada
	school, Facuity and College	school, Faculty and College Faculty of Humanities, social sciences and Education, in cooperation with the Center for Sami Studies.	racuity of Indigenous Studies, Social Sciences and Humanities. Facuity of Arts and Science Programs	Facuity of Arts and Science	Faculty of Arts
Program Structure	Dept/Program Status	Multi-disciplinary program	Department of First Nations Studies	Department of Indigenous Studies, individually created Department of Indigenous Studies MA program for each student.	I Department of Indigenous Studies
	Degree offerings	Master of Philosophy in Indigenous Studies (2 year program)	Undergrad (minor, 4 year) and Master in First Nations Studies (3 years)	Undergrad (Minor, 4 year) and Master of Arts in Indigenous Studies	Undergrad (3 year, 4 year, honors) and Master of Arts in Indigenous Governance
	Program Description	In master's programme in Indigenous Studies of these a multidactionary approach to the study of Indigenous issues, intending to equip the students with academic and practical side, critical thinking and knowledge to fill an important role in an increasingly globalized world. The programme aims to recruit both indigenous and non-indigenous students from all parts of the world. A mixed group of retunors that is structure and non-indigenous students from all parts of the world. A mixed group of retwork building.	The UNBC NMA program in First Nation Studies is a unique in diagenous Studies is a critical, mutil disciplinary area to read may be added to characteristic and another studies and weekeneds, once a month at the Prince philosophy, and imagage, among other areas, to design earning with coline meetings in between classroom address decoloration, reducing the resuggence of contests, including law, business and issues, theory and proats, and contextualities of carees, including law, business and issues, the respective of the resuggence of carees, including law, business and course to apply in the Respective Community community and proposes and traperoperates of the resuggence	gregorous Studies is a critical, mutilidisciplinary area of study, it engages history art, music, law, philosophy, and language, among other areas, to philosophy, and language, among other areas, to philosophy, and language, among other areas, tour could all progressive through local, national, and global indigenous perspectives. This program will oppen doors in a variety of careers, including law, business and entrepreneurship, community development, cultural entrepreneurship, community development, cultural few, studies and museums, and education, to name just a few.	Independs Studies is a critical, mutilistopiniary area. The Matter of Arst Mort In Independs Covernance is an activate in a stage shistory, art music, law, music, law, the three disciplinary program that provides students with philosophy, and language, among other areas, to the resugrance in practical skills to examine and address address decoloration, reveilation, and resugrance indigenous governance in the political, cools a common perspectival, and global indigenous and cuttural contexts; including its user related to land perspectively and global indigenous and cuttural contexts; including law, business and care activate of the program will be context including law, business and care activate whose articles whose prometimal foorsing on indigenous rattices whose prometimal is studies and museums, and education, to name just a licotate fin lovint and south America, the international context holds a significant place in the analysis and discussion of shared issues related to Indigenous governance.
Progra m Focus	Program Goals	Students are expected to have achieved the following learning outcomes: Advanced browledge of: Indigenoo is sue, including similarities and differences based on the different cultural contexts; the concepts of indigenous brobles; as deed in areas of research and oblicts on global and local levels, and the exclobility and political pedate on these issues; different scholarly theories and methods in the field the cholarly and political pedate on these issues; different scholarly theories and methods in the field of Indigenous scholar, including the chilenges possed by indigenous methodology, the history of the global indigenous movement and the current situation of the Sami and other indigenous peoples; the existing state of knowledge related to indigenous research ethics and the responsibility of the researcher. Gpackty. Capacity or critically support the current situation of the Sami and other indigenous peoples; the existing state of knowledge related to indigenous peoples based on the interdisciplinary approach to indigenous studies; and relevant treacrity from the human intex and social sciences and their institutions are fating; analyse existing and relevant treacrity methods to produce the data for an independently disciplinary and relevant interdisciplinary and contemporary contexts; Make on a longer the steminars and analyse relevant academic problems in the field of academic indigenous research, analyse professional analyse relevant academic problems in the field of academic indigenous research, and contemporary contexts; Make on a presentation at seminars and analyse relevant academic problems in the field of academic indigenous research, and contemporary contexts; Make on a presentation at seminars and indigenous studies and communicate extensively to their cademic work both to specialists and to the general public, combine different scholarly approaches to produce new knowledge; contribute to new thinking and innovation processes regarding indigenous peoples and minorities.			The UW MAI in Indigenous Governance objectives are to provide studies in matters of good governance grounded in indigenous thought and values; provide an in-depth under standing of the human, environmental and inhardal issues and processor relevant to Indigenous self. determination promore leadership and skills in areas of popicy development and professional practice relevant to indigenous governance and public service organizations working with indigenous properties and, create an intellectual space of with migenous scholars.
	Indigenous Faculty	1	9 (including sessional and adjunct professors)	5 (including sessional instructors)	9
Faculty	Non-Indigenous Faculty	1 (with Sámi heritage)	9	4	2
	Women	-	6	9	3
	Men Number of	1	9	3 Not listed	22/14 MIC 0 200 IMPC)
of and on the			٥	Not listed	22 (14 INDG, 8 NOR-IN DG)
students	Alumni	The program website provides a link to the university's Theses Archive where alumni can be found through their completed works.	Not listed.	Not listed.	Not listed.
	Required Courses	From INDG: Introduction to Indigenous Studies; Methodology and Methods in indigenous Studies; Master's Thesis in indigenous Studies; Master's Thesis in indigenous Studies studies. From other departments: Indigenous Revitalization: Lang uage, Literature and Arts (HIS); History of Indigenous Peoples: Indigenous people ethnic innivities and the multicultural society in the north (HIS); indigenous Culture, Resource Management and Human Rights (Soc.); indigenous Peoples (FOL).	Foundations of First Nations Studies; Master's Thesis or NA Project in Indigenous Studies; Master's Thesis or NA Project of Research Seminar; Thesis or NA Project. work. 15 (HS); History of Indigenous Peoples: Indigenous propies: Indigenous Peoples: Indigenous Peo	Independent study or attending 4000-level undergraduate courses and completing additional work.	Indigenous Self-Determination, Pathways to Indigenous Wisdom, indigenous seevent Methodologies and Ethics; Waster's thesis or work practicum. Directed Leaning; Seminar in Selected Topics; Required Study in Indigenous Language
Courses and Activities	Electives	N/A	N/A	N/A	Indigenous Peoples, Globa lization and Development; Bloochteral Diversity Conservation Salanding Sciendific and Indigenous Knowledge; Indigenous Education in an Erd of Globalization; Indigenous Food Security; Community Food Security is Galning Wider Respiration and importance; Human Rights and Indigenous Rights in Latin America; Seminar in Selected Topics; Directed
	Program options	Thesis	Thesis and project	Thesis	Thesis, course (with comprehensive exam) and practicum
	Community Engagement	Fieldtrip to a Sámi community	In the program description the program proposes courses taught in First Nations communities, internships and	Nothing listed on their website as part of the program	
			collinging based research projects		

Sources: Data from INDGST program websites for UiT (n.d.); The University of Winnipeg (n.d.); University of Lethbridge (n.d.); UNBC (n.d.).

4.3.1. Program Structure

Table 3 shows some of the main items listed on program websites, outlining the keycomponents of each program. The first three categories are important as they set the precedence for the program and introduce prospective students to the position of the program at each university. As we can see, all three Canadian programs are hosted in an INDGST department, offering both undergraduate and graduate degrees. Departments are divisions of the university that are devoted to a specific academic discipline with a collection of faculty who specialize in that discipline. A program on the other hand is a collection of courses that lead to a degree or certificate which include a combination of courses hosted by the program itself and courses from other disciplines. Some programs rely more heavily on other disciplines than other programs do. UNBC, UW and UL all have distinct departments dedicated to teaching INDGST which allows for an MA program that is grounded in the discipline and is based in a department that only focuses on Indigenous topics. The program in Norway, however, is hosted in cooperation between several faculties but is administered by the Center for Sámi Studies (SESAM). It does not have its own department and relies on several departments from the larger university to fulfill program requirements as it is a multi-disciplinary program. The program is therefore not fully centered around Indigenous topics as it is based in faculties that have specialties beyond INDGST. UiT is also the only university that does not offer any undergraduate degrees or courses in INDGST, so educational opportunities in the field are scarce at an undergraduate level.

4.3.2. Program Focus

In table 3, program focus describes the descriptions and goals of each INDGST program as these two categories outline the focus of each program. Program descriptions and goals give students an initial idea of what to expect in the program. These are important as they outline the intent of the program, meaning the description and goals, and what skills students can expect to graduate with. In the program descriptions, all four programs focus on providing students with academic skills, as well as to increase their knowledge on Indigenous topics. UiT emphasizes the diversity of students in its program description and presents its program as one with a global

focus. UW also expresses the importance of the international context while emphasizing that the program's main focus will be on Indigenous Nations whose homelands are in North and South America. UL's program description on the other hand describes what INDGST is and emphasizes career paths for graduates in the discipline.

UNBC is interesting as they recently changed their program structure. It used to be structured as a traditional MA program where students take courses the first two semesters and conduct research and write their thesis the following terms. In 2014, UNBC shifted to the unique cohort-system their MA program has today, where courses are taught in-person Fridays and weekends once a month with online meetings in-between. It is therefore easier for students with outside responsibilities or full-time jobs to attend this program as they only need to be present in person once a month during a weekend and can conduct the remainder of their work from home. UNBC's program description also emphasizes community connection through courses taught in First Nations communities, internships, and community-based projects.

While all four universities neatly outline their program description, only UiT and UW have clear goals for their graduate students. UiT's goals for their students is an extensive list that focuses on advancing students' knowledge in INDGST, learning new research skills and learning how to apply the knowledge and skills that they will gain during the program in their professional lives. UW also focus on advancing student knowledge in topics of Indigenous governance, provide leadership skills relevant to the program topic and create an intellectual space of excellence to engage scholars in important conversations. Neither UNBC nor UL present distinct goals on their websites specifically, but their department websites outline some goals for their programs in general. UNBC writes that their programs will prepare students for careers in community service, law and culture. They also state that students will learn from award-winning faculty and Elders recognized for groundbreaking and respectful research, engagement and curriculum design, which paints a picture of a fruitful learning environment. As for UL, their departmental goals state that they offer an international comparative approach and are dedicated to community-engaged scholarship, and meeting the research needs and priorities of Indigenous peoples in Canada and throughout the world. Within the UL department, Indigenous and non-Indigenous students have the opportunity to learn and think about Indigenous knowledges in creative, transformative and critical ways. The department offers

courses that engender a rigorous and respectful understanding of Indigenous peoples' languages, knowledges, cultures, histories, politics, arts, intellectual traditions, and research methodologies.

4.3.3. Faculty

As some alumni had expectations of their program predominantly consisting of Indigenous faculty, the ratio is important to evaluate. This ratio may have changed since participants attended the programs as scholars sometimes leave and are replaced with new hires. Since the program in Norway is a multi-disciplinary program, they only have two faculty positions directly connected to their INDGST program, where one professor is Sámi, and the other professor has Sámi heritage but identifies as non-Indigenous. There is no information on professors teaching courses hosted by other departments. UNBC has a total of fifteen professors, nine Indigenous, including a professor emerita and adjunct faculty and six non-Indigenous, including adjunct faculty. UL has five Indigenous professors including sessional instructors, and four non-Indigenous professors and UW has a majority of Indigenous professors, with six Indigenous professors including contract faculty and two non-Indigenous professors. At UNBC and UL there is a majority of women, which reflects the gender ratio we saw in student cohorts as well. At UiT there is one woman and one man and at UW there is a majority of men which challenges the most common gender balance among Indigenous scholars. This will be discussed further in Chapter 5.

4.3.4. Students

Only the UNBC and UW list their current graduate students on their program websites. UNBC list their current students by name, with accompanying photo, supervisor name and a description of themselves and their research. UW, however, only list the total number of graduate students without providing any information such as name, supervisor, research topic etc. They only identify the number of Indigenous and non-Indigenous students currently in the program. UiT and UL do not provide any information about their current graduate students. None of the universities provide a complete list of students who have graduated from their programs over the years. Only UiT provides a direct link to their Theses Archive where you can locate alumni through their completed works. It is possible to locate alumni from UNBC, UL, and UW in the same way, however, the theses archives are not as readily accessible at these three universities. Their online libraries hold the completed theses of most alumni, but this information

is not accessible through the program webpage. As discussed in the methodology, this lack of acknowledgement of alumni made it challenging to find research participants for this study.

4.3.5. Courses and Activities

One of the main expectations participants had in entering the program was having an Indigenous focus in their coursework, meaning that they expected their programs to include Indigenous content in the coursework, that they would be exposed to Indigenous perspectives and worldviews in their coursework and program, and that their program would reflect Indigenous ways of knowing. Table 3 shows that UiT, UNBC and UW have required coursework centered around Indigenous topics. UiT and UNBC have required courses that all students take, whereas UW have some required courses in addition to a list of electives. Students at UW are required to take 21 credit hours of required INDGST courses and 3 credit hours of elective INDGST courses. At UiT, all course titles have an Indigenous focus, but only the core courses, Introduction to Indigenous Studies, Methodology and Methods in Indigenous Studies, and Master's Thesis in Indigenous Studies are hosted by SESAM. The remaining coursework is hosted by different departments. At UNBC all required courses are hosted by the FNS department. In opposition to the three universities aforementioned, UL is unique here as they do not have a program with a specific set of courses. Rather, each MA student enters on an individual basis and creates their own program with a supervisor. Based on the information on their website, their courses therefore consist of independent studies under the guidance of an instructor, where a student does an independent study consisting of either library research, laboratory research projects or field study. Or students attend fourth year-level undergraduate courses and complete additional work to get credit for it at an MA level. The four INDGST programs also offer different program streams. All participants for this research did a thesisbased MA, but UNBC also offers a project-based MA and UW offers both course-based and practicum based INDGST MA programs in addition to the thesis-based option. Community oriented programs was also an important expectation for some alumni. All programs except for UL outline community engagement activities that are either integrated into the program or listed as an option for students to take part in outside the program. This provides students with the opportunity to connect with community members and engage with local Indigenous peoples.

4.4. Alumni Experiences Based on Their Expectations

As described earlier, the alumni had a range of expectations to their MA programs. Table 2 outlines these expectations as Indigenous focus, Indigenous faculty, Community Oriented and Other. Alumni were asked if their expectations were met, and they shared their experiences. Although expectations varied among the alumni, even among those who attended the same university, they still share some similarities among them.

4.4.1. Alumni Experiences of Indigenous Focus in Indigenous Studies Program Curriculums

Several participants expected to be exposed to Indigenous perspectives in their programs. At UiT only one participant stated that these expectations were met, whereas the other two participants stated that these expectations were not met. Similarly, at UNBC, one student found that he was satisfied, whereas the other two expressed that their expectations were not met. At UL participants also did not find that their expectations were met. Participants from UW did not specifically state that they expected to be exposed to Indigenous perspectives in their courses. While discussing their experiences, however, they all expressed positive experiences with the Indigenous focus in their coursework.

Yada, from UiT expressed that he was very pleased with the program and that it went beyond his expectations. He stated that the program at UiT delved deeper than only looking at the culture of Indigenous peoples, by also looking at Indigenous rights, politics, and philosophies. Yada did however note that although it reflected Indigenous worldviews, it was limited to Indigenous perspectives from Sápmi and North America. Perspectives from other continents such as Africa were missing. He stated that this focus on Sápmi and North America could be a reflection of faculty research areas. As the scholars teaching these courses were from the West, their class topics also focused on this area. Yada did share that one Western professor included some perspectives from Africa in his coursework, as this was where he had done his research. However, according to Yada, as the professor was not an African professor, the content was still taught from a western perspective.

Leonora from the same university was not as satisfied. She stated that Indigenous perspectives were rarely introduced and visible in courses hosted by other departments. Since the program is a multi-disciplinary program, many of their courses were taught by non-Indigenous professors from other disciplines, who did not incorporate Indigenous worldviews as much, an

issue her and her peers often brought up to the program coordinators as they felt they were lacking a crucial part of their education. She argued that taking courses from other departments was less beneficial as they often ended up in courses with students from different educational backgrounds who had very different expectations of the course. Leonora did not give a specific example but did discuss the challenge of being in courses with students from different disciplines as they had not taken the Introduction to Indigenous Studies course or Methodology and Methods in Indigenous Studies, and thus had very different approaches to the courses. Since they had different educational backgrounds, they also had different issues that they were struggling with in the courses as they were approaching the topic from a different perspective. Leonora did not elaborate on their issues, but she stated that "it was not so much understanding between those groups of students, because we're kind of a completely different world almost." This created frustrations and irritation. According to Leonora it was difficult for the INDGST students to use what they were learning from their INDGST courses in the rest of their non-INDGST courses. For instance, it was difficult for the students to position themselves in relation to the research they were doing in non-INDGST courses, because both their peers in the course and the professor were unfamiliar with positionality statements and the importance of acknowledging one's relationship to the research. The INDGST students had learned this in their Indigenous methodology course but struggled to apply it in other non-INDGST courses. Leonora did state that they had one really good experience with a Sámi professor from a different department, however, she did not elaborate on what made this course a good experience other than having a Sámi professor. She stated that this course gave her cohort a point of comparison for what an ideal course could look like, in opposition to what most of their courses from other departments ended up being. It is important to note here however, that Leonora had not realized previous to starting the program that most of the courses would be hosted by other departments as she had not read the program description carefully.

Millie, the last participants from UiT had a more mixed experience. Some of her courses provided an Indigenous focus, while others did not. From what she could remember, about half of their courses were hosted by SESAM and the rest were hosted by various other departments, which coincides with the information in table 3. The SESAM courses they took included an introduction course, a methods and methodologies course, and their thesis course, which provided a curriculum with an Indigenous focus, according to Millie. She also discussed a

politics course that contained Indigenous worldviews that was taught by a professor from SESAM, but she was not sure if it was hosted by them or by the Politics department. She did however state that she was disappointed that the Indigenous focused courses did not dive deeper into topics of Sámi history, which she had expected. From the courses she took from other departments, the anthropology course provided Indigenous perspectives, and they were able to discuss point of views that were relevant on a community level both locally and globally. The anthropology professor provided readings that gave students a global perspective on settler-Indigenous relationships. Millie further stated that this anthropology course was more reflective and gave students a chance to contemplate specific case studies personally, which gave them a better overall understanding and a deeper connection with the topic.

Regarding the other courses from other disciplines, Millie stated that they predominantly reflected non-Indigenous views and did not provide an Indigenous perspective. There was one course in particular where her and her cohort had a more negative experience. This course did not include any Indigenous or Sámi perspectives in the lectures even though the course topic was on the history of Indigenous peoples. She did not say whether the required readings were written by Indigenous scholars or not but stated that the course was taught from a western and colonial perspective as the professor was non-Indigenous. Millie had expected the course to include more Indigenous perspectives as its focus was on Indigenous peoples. Rather than focusing on specific examples of how the course had disappointed students, Millie emphasized that she did not blame the professor even though she did feel disappointed by this course, as it had been included in the curriculum for INDGST students. Despite her dissatisfaction, Millie emphasized that to her understanding, the program coordinators could not always account for the ways in which courses were taught in other departments. She was in student government and therefore had some ideas of how the program course list was chosen, even though she emphasized that her understanding was based on minimal information. She stated that program coordinators had no authority over what was taught in the courses offered by other departments. According to Millie, INDGST professors and SESAM could only provide resources and ideas of what they thought the courses from other departments should look like and focus on. They had no control of how the courses were taught or who taught them. To her understanding, the university had the final say, so the program coordinators did not have full autonomy over the courses in the INDGST program.

UNBC was more complicated because of the recent changes to the program structure and the alumni were critical of the change. Corbin, who graduated several years ago, before the program adapted the cohort-based structure it has today was fairly pleased with his courses. He stated that all the courses he took from the FNS department reflected Indigenous perspectives and worldviews. In particular, he took two interactive courses (that will be discussed below) with community connections. He also stated that he was very pleased with the methodology course that was hosted by the department, as it gave him a guiding structure for his own work when he started his thesis. The methodology course also impressed the importance of Indigenous research, teaching him how to do, what he called "good research," by using Indigenous methodologies and frameworks. The other two participants from UNBC graduated more recently and had been in the program after it shifted its structure to the cohort-based program it has today. Both Yahlnaaw and Natalie commented on the lack of Indigenous perspectives in some of their required courses, which they believed was because of the professors, and will be elaborated on below.

From UL, all their courses were taken with graduate students from other programs and with faculty from other departments, and therefore did not include any Indigenous worldviews. Although Ira stated that he was satisfied with the program overall, he was surprised by the lack of Indigenous perspectives in the coursework. Leon also said that the only course where he was able to focus on anything Indigenous related was in the methodology course, where students did presentations on a methodology. He decided to present on an Indigenous methodology, something that was well received by the professor, who later, Leon said, included more of this in his courses. However, at the time, the only reason this viewpoint was included in his coursework was because he himself chose to include it. He stated that most of the courses he did take were aimed at the general population, which he specified as being Caucasian students, as they were the majority of students at the university at the time he was in graduate school. In the methodology course, Leon was told that he needed to be objective in his research, something that he explained doesn't align with Indigenous worldviews. McLeod (2000, 29) argues that objectivity is one of the largest obstacles to Indigenous peoples articulating their stories and paradigms as the human experience becomes distorted and disjointed. This was articulated by Leon as he stated that he felt like his cultural upbringing was in contrast with him being a researcher, as the methodologies he was learning did not include the relational approach he

wanted to take in his research. Thus, the students at UL were disappointed by the lack of Indigenous perspectives in their education, even though they were satisfied with their overall experience.

Both Ira and Leon stated that they only got an Indigenous focus in their program through their own individual thesis work. They both allowed me to share their research topics which connected to their own communities and histories. Leon did archival work, comparing the White Paper and the Red Paper looking at the discourse of treaties and self-sufficiency in these two documents, while Ira worked with his community to study how industries who are interested in resource developments close to Indigenous territory can consult with Indigenous communities in an effective and efficient way that respects the Indigenous ties to the land. They both stated that they had support from their supervisors to complete this work and were able to thoroughly discuss their Indigenous topics as their supervisors were from the INDGST department. Ira also emphasized that his work was important to his community and that he found it crucial for them to approve of the thesis. Approval from the university itself was not important to him, as long as his community accepted his work.

None of the students at UW stated that Indigenous focused coursework was one of their expectations. However, despite being in the program at different times, all three participants from UW stated that all the courses they took included Indigenous perspectives and worldviews. MJ expressed a specific satisfaction with a course that focused on Indigenous wisdoms and ways of knowing, as it created a foundation for understanding the discipline and what knowledges it is rooted in, as well giving space to have reflective conversations about where people were coming from and how each student could approach INDGST based on their positionality. The course helped both Indigenous and non-Indigenous students understand the core goals of INDGST and to approach the topics with understanding, patience, empathy, and sensitivity. It grounded them and helped them reflect on the ways in which they could approach research in the future.

MJ, Louise, and Sam at UW also highlighted that most of their courses predominantly focused on local Indigenous communities, as the program description described. Louise stated that the focus on Indigenous peoples around Manitoba, was due to the fact that most of the professors were from local and other communities in Manitoba. She stated that professors would

focus on their own background and where they came from. Since INDGST is a relational field, Indigenous scholars and professors often draw on their own experiences, knowledges, and relationships, both in their research and in their teaching (Harris 2002). The three UW alumni stated that while most of the courses focused on local Indigenous knowledges, histories, and teachings, professors also drew on international scholars and concepts, by including readings in the curriculum that were written by Indigenous peoples from other places. MJ also said that she was able to take an Indigenous self-governance or self-determination course that drew on international scholars' work that allowed her to take part in the global discourse. As this is part of the program description as well, alumni were satisfied with the international focus. Sam further stated that in many of the courses hosted by the INDGST department, professors often brought in guest lecturers who provided new, and alternative perspectives that were beneficial for their overall understanding of various topics in their coursework. None of the participants stated who these guest lectures were, but it is clear that they made a good impression. Sam emphasized that talking to people from outside of academia was beneficial as it gave a different viewpoint and provided them with a wider understanding of how various issues they studied in class affect people outside of academia and in the communities. She further said that bringing in guest lecturers from outside academia into the classroom helped bridge the gap between academia and the real world. It gave them insight into the role research can have and its impact on people and communities. It also supports one of the goals of INDGST to strive towards doing work that helps people in the community, rather than only doing research for the sake of research (Anderson and Cidro 2019; Cook-Lynn 1997; Castleden, Morgan and Lamb 2012; Innes 2010; Schnarch 2004).

Alumni had different reflections about whether or not their expectations were met regarding the inclusion of Indigenous perspectives. Although alumni did not state that they expected all courses to include Indigenous content, the majority expressed dissatisfaction with the courses that failed to do so. At UiT, Yada stated that his expectations were met, whereas Leonora and Millie stated that they were not met. Yada had very broad expectations, wanting to learn more about Indigenous culture and life, which, according to him, was covered in his courses. Both Leonora and Millie on the other hand had distinct expectations which may account for their dissatisfaction with the Indigenous focus in their coursework. Their dissatisfaction may also be reflected in the fact that neither had read the program description carefully before they

applied. Leonora stated that she had expected the program to be hosted in one space and did not realize that most of the courses would be hosted by different departments. Millie also admitted that she had not looked at the outline of the program critically before she started the program and therefore did not have a well-rounded idea of what the program would look like before she began. At UNBC, students also had different experiences. Corbin, who graduated before the change to the cohort structure was pleased with the coursework and found that all his courses included Indigenous focused coursework. Yahlnaaw and Natalie's expectations were not met due to the lack of Indigenous focus in a required course taught by a non-Indigenous professor. At UL, both Ira and Leon agreed that the program did not include any courses with an Indigenous focus. At UW on the other hand, all three participants stated that their program did a great job of including Indigenous focused coursework in their courses.

4.4.2 Experiences with Indigenous and Non-Indigenous Professors

My interviews did not include a question about how their experiences were impacted by having Indigenous and/or non-Indigenous professors. This was an issue the alumni raised on their own during our conversations. Yahlnaaw and Natalie from UNBC specifically stated that they expected there would be a majority of Indigenous professors in their program. At UiT, this was expressed as students emphasized the lack of Indigenous perspectives in courses hosted by other departments, which were mostly taught by non-Indigenous professors, whereas the courses hosted by SESAM were taught by Indigenous professors. At UL, students also reflected on the lack of Indigenous perspectives in their coursework due to the nature of the program, as their coursework was taken in a cohort with students from different departments, taught by non-Indigenous professors. At UW, however, none of the students reflected on having non-Indigenous professors in the program. As they were all very satisfied with the Indigenous focus in their coursework, they did not raise this issue in our conversations.

From UNBC, Yahlnaaw was eager to participate in the present study as she had a lot to say about her experience in the FNS MA program. In particular, she expressed dissatisfaction about her experience with a professor in the department who taught the graduate studies theory course at the time. According to Yahlnaaw, this non-Indigenous professor in the FNS department, barely provided any Indigenous perspectives in their course. Rather, the professor taught and expected students to use western theories and frameworks to explain the concepts and

ideas they were looking at, all of which were Indigenous concepts and topics. Yahlnaaw described this professor as having a "superiority attitude" and was unwilling to listen to students' complaints that this FNS course had almost no Indigenous resources or voices included in the curriculum. She said that it did not seem like this professor had given much thought to their positionality, or rather, that the professor acted entitled to speak from an Indigenous perspective as they were close to an Indigenous person in their personal life. Yahlnaaw stated that the professor:

Essentially [adopted] this Indigenous [person's] identity, which in [their] mind gave [them] the qualifications to do what [they do] without any of that [...] moral obligation to consider: 'oh I'm a non-Indigenous [person] teaching Indigenous Studies, what kind of privilege is behind that?'

She felt that the professor took an approach that seemed excessive and overstepping for many of the Indigenous students in the course, as the professor was non-Indigenous, but taking on the identity of an Indigenous person while teaching the course. As the theory course is foundational for thesis research and writing, Yahlnaaw felt like it gravely impacted her graduate school experience and that she did not get a lot of the education and experience that she hoped she would in this FNS program.

Despite the very negative experience above, that greatly impacted Yahlnaaw's education in the discipline, she also spoke about another non-Indigenous professors in the department who did a better job of approaching the subject. In contrast to the professor mentioned above, Yahnaaw said that this other professor acknowledged their space in the discipline as non-Indigenous and emphasized that their role was to make space for Indigenous students to do their work, and to be there to assist with structure and guidance, ultimately developing the space for Indigenous scholars to flourish. She emphasized the importance of entering the space respectfully and positioning oneself in relation to the work, which this professor did. Yahlnaaw also stated that the majority of professors in the program, both non-Indigenous and Indigenous, did a good job of positioning themselves in relation to their work and were supportive of students. Despite more positive experiences with other professors, Yahlnaaw continued to refer back to her experience with the non-Indigenous theory professor as it was one of her first courses and was a foundational course for her thesis.

Natalie from UNBC also expressed concerns about the focus that some of the non-Indigenous professors brought in. She had courses with both Indigenous and non-Indigenous professors but said that the non-Indigenous professors did not provide Indigenous perspectives from an INDGST approach. She also specified the theory course as an example, stating that the course focused more on the critical field of scholarship and how it led into the creation of INDGST rather than actually looking at Indigenous theories. Natalie said that the reading list for the course included a few Indigenous scholars, but the articles were about how Indigenous scholars used western theories (such as Marxism and critical race theory) rather than exploring Indigenous theories. Like Yahnaaw, Natalie took this course during her first semester but stated that her experience in the program improved during her second semester of courses. During her second semester she took a methodology class from an Indigenous professor who discussed how they had used various Indigenous methods in the past in their own research. This helped the students with their thesis research as the professor was approaching the topic using Indigenous methods and methodologies which is what the students would be doing as well when they started their own research. Natalie also stated that she took other courses that were taught by both non-Indigenous professors and Indigenous professors who did a good job of including Indigenous perspectives in their courses, so her experience was varied.

All participants from UNBC discussed the faculty in the department. Corbin, who was in the program before it shifted to its cohort structure, said that the FNS program was in a transition time where the department was attempting to hire more Indigenous professors. According to Corbin, the faculty at the time consisted of 'half and half' Indigenous and non-Indigenous professors. Yahlnaaw, who graduated more recently stated that there were predominantly non-Indigenous professors in the department. She believed this was due to a toxic work environment among the faculty, specifically between Indigenous and non-Indigenous professors, that mirrored the experience she had with the non-Indigenous theory professor. Natalie stated that there was a great flux of professors, something she attributed to professors in the department being overworked and underfunded.

UW participants did not reflect on professors in relation to their identity as all three students were pleased with their coursework and the perspectives they were taught, but Louise did have a similar concern to the students from UNBC in relation to faculty being overworked

and underfunded. She noted that professors in the INDGST department at UW did not have time to meet the needs of students, often leaving them without much guidance and assistance, which further attributed to students staying longer in their programs and struggling to graduate based on the timeline set by the university (2 years). She further stated that one professor had encouraged them to do secondary or archival research rather than conducting their own research such as interviews or focus groups, in order to move students along, as doing their own research would take too long considering the requirements of the university, including submitting ethics applications that often had a long review time. Although Louise understood the value of secondary or archival research, she found it unreasonable that a professor would discourage students who had intended to do their own research from doing so, just to move them through the program faster. Louise attributed this lack of support from professors to their assigned additional work responsibilities in the larger university. She gave an example of a new Indigenous course requirement for all undergraduate students that had recently been implemented at their university, which created an influx of students needing to take classes from the INDGST department. In theory, this is a great initiative as it encourages more students to take INDGST classes and learn about Canada's history with its Indigenous peoples. However, by increasing the number of students who need to take courses in a specific department without increasing faculty, the professors are stretched thin. Louise stated that she had been asked to teach the class when she was in her second semester of her MA, something she felt extremely underqualified to do.

4.4.3. Community Oriented Experiences

Students from UiT, UW and UNBC, specifically expressed that they had expectations of their programs to be community oriented. For Millie at UiT, these expectations were only partially met. She had expected the program to have connections with local Sámi communities that they could create relationships with. They only had one such experience, at the very beginning of the program. The incoming cohort went on a fieldtrip to Manndalen, a small Sámi village in Northern Norway (about two hours from the university) for a couple of days to a week (students from different years reported different time lengths of this trip). On this field trip they were able to go to cultural centers and schools and meet people in the community. Millie explained that they discussed some Indigenous philosophies and had closer conversations on these topics, something she wish had been expanded upon further in the program or in their other

courses once they got back to campus. She did however state that she learned a lot more outside of the program when she went on a road trip to a Sámi music festival during the summer and was able to meet Sámi people there.

Millie also expected the program to provide opportunities for students to talk to Sámi people about the topics they were learning about in school and to learn more from people outside of academia. She was able to create these connections herself, but the program did not provide many opportunities for graduate students to meet people outside the academic setting. She did say, however, that some Sámi professors created space within the program to have conversations that broke down some of the traditional educational barriers between professors and students. Her cohort would have gatherings with some of the Sámi professors in Árdna, a Sámi building on campus. They would sit around a fire in Árdna and have conversations with their Sámi professors in a more relaxed setting where everyone could learn from each other and share stories. Millie stated that these gatherings were beneficial as it allowed their professors to share stories and discuss how they engage in some of the material they were teaching the graduate students in their everyday lives. She said:

We were able to get more of an understanding of where they come from, with their ideas and arguments and their political leanings, or the way they decide to [...] implement [...] Indigenous ideologies in their life and [...] where they come from in their communities and what that means for them. [...] It really helped create a more rounded education.

Millie explained that these conversations were very beneficial as they were not able to have similar discussions in their courses. The courses were less flexible and seldom created space to discuss things more in depth. Lastly, Millie expected the program to have more of a local focus, but the program was very oriented towards the global Indigenous rights movement as a whole, as opposed to focusing on local communities. She did say, however, that this gave a different perspective than she had expected and was a positive aspect. She noted that the program was very international as her cohort was from all over the world, and as such, were able to bring in their own perspectives and knowledge on class topics as well.

From UW, MJ was very satisfied with the community connection that the university had in place and provided her. She was pleasantly surprised that the community connection went

beyond her expectations because it offered additional opportunities she had not foreseen. Through some of her classes she attended ceremonies with her professors who also took them on class excursions several times. All this enhanced her connection to local communities and offered opportunities to meet Indigenous people outside of the university setting. MJ stated however, that there was a lack of funding in the department to go on these trips. She stated that "I knew my, my professors had really great ideas. They had so many things that they wanted to get us involved with, you know, there were just so many things, but it was always about the funding...there wasn't enough funding. It was out of their control." Even though they were able to go to several events, faculty were interested in organizing even more opportunities for students but lacked the resources to do so.

Louise at UW expected to be able to continue her work relationship with an Indigenous organization during her MA program and was satisfied that her program supported it. She also echoed MJ's sentiments on the importance of engaging with community and highlighted that one of the professors in the department took graduate students to Sweat-lodge ceremonies in the city and brought them to the community where they were able to participate in various activities although she did not give any examples of these activities. Louise took a language immersion course at UW which included a field trip to Riding Mountain National Park where they rented cabins and stayed with Elders who taught them the language through workshops and songs. The students were able to immerse themselves in the language while they were there. She stressed going on the field trip improved her course experience and language learning experience. Louise did not specify what language course she took, but the program at UW requires that student take an introductory language course in either Cree or Ojibwe.

Yahlnaaw, from UNBC, stated that there was little connection to community outside each individual's personal thesis work. All their courses happened in a classroom setting and were predominantly lectures and engaged group activity which focused on preparing them for their thesis work. Yahlnaaw stated that they had a couple of guest lecturers but did not elaborate on who the guest lecturers were or what they talked about. Corbin from the UNBC did not share any expectation of community connections in the program but his experiences were different from Yahlnaaw's. Corbin was in the program before it became cohort based and described one course where they spent time out on the land learning to build a canoe. Although he did not take the

course himself, Corbin attended the canoe making activities because there was a good atmosphere around the work they were doing. In his program students were required to do a field course where they had to work with an Indigenous organization. This was an individual course, so each student worked with an organization of their choosing. Corbin stated that he had been hesitant to take this requirement and had tried to opt out, but to his surprise, the relationships he built during his work with an Indigenous organization was extremely beneficial for his thesis and his life after academia, so it had been very helpful in the end.

4.4.4. Additional Experiences

Some students had experiences that did not fall into the specific expectation categories provided here. Sam, from UW for example, already knew that she wanted to focus her thesis on urban planning or urban community development with a focus on Indigenous organizations but was not sure Indigenous Governance was an appropriate program for her. She expected to be able to center coursework and her research around her research interests and was pleasantly surprised to find the faculty supportive and helpful. She found the courses helpful, as each provided something that benefitted her research and knowledge building. In addition to coursework, the MA program provided Sam the opportunity to work on a research project with a professor from a different department, that involved working with urban Indigenous organizations. She did not have a previous connection to this professor or the research project. Rather, the opportunity was presented to her from one of the professors who thought this project aligned well with her interests. The program therefore exceeded her expectations due to the useful coursework and the support, guidance and engagement from the faculty in the department. Sam noted that she was lucky to get this research opportunity but expressed a concern about the lack of similar opportunities for her peers. She said that there were few ongoing projects in the department that students could join and questioned whether the INDGST department is supported well enough economically to be able to fund students' research opportunities.

Natalie from UNBC expected the program to be challenging but found the courses to be manageable. She said "it often just wasn't a challenging learning experience for me. [...] I felt like I wasn't necessarily [...] being challenged or learning or gaining anything in the actual coursework." She was disappointed by the academic level in her courses. Natalie did however find the program to be more challenging when she started doing individual research and writing

her thesis. She said it was a challenge to conduct her research and be able to make connections and build relationships with participants and a challenge in terms of her ability to motivate herself to write an entire thesis. She therefore concluded that her expectation to learn and experience something different had been fulfilled through writing her thesis, but she did not get that experience from the coursework. Corbin from UNBC also stated that he expected the program to push intellectual boundaries as he wanted to be exposed to new perspectives and ideas within INDGST that he had not been introduced to in any of his undergraduate courses, but his expectations were not met. However, he reflected that this was probably because he took undergraduate courses on similar topics with the same professors, and he might have had more intellectual challenges and gained more critical thinking skills had he stepped out of his comfort zone and gone to a different university for his MA. Ira from UL also expressed a desire to gain more critical thinking skills. Although he said the program met his expectations, he expressed that if fell short in some ways. He said that he felt like something was missing from the courses, he had hoped there would be a more practical aspect to the program. However, he found all the courses to be very theoretical and he lacked support from professors. His courses were all lecture based, and very reading intense, without much assistance or discussions around the readings and the coursework in order to help students really understand the topics, which made it tough to work through the courses.

Overall, student expectations and experiences were complex and varying. Their expectations were both impacted by their background and their previous knowledge of INDGST, and their experiences were framed by their expectations of their programs. Students with higher expectations were more likely to be unsatisfied with their experience, while students with few expectations were more likely to be satisfied with their experience. The main expectations students had, were around the inclusion of Indigenous perspectives, the presence of Indigenous faculty, the space for community connections and the academic level of their programs. Although not all students found that the program met their expectations, most participants found aspects of their programs that they were pleased and satisfied with, that assisted them in completing their programs.

In the next chapter, I will consider the programs from a wider perspective, analyzing participants' experiences through an anti-colonial lens. I will discuss the overall goals of the

discipline and how well both program goals and alumni experiences reflected the discipline's goals. Further, I will discuss the differences and similarities between the programs in Norway and Canada, focusing on the student demographics and evaluate some of the challenges students faced as a result of the structure of post-secondary institutions. Chapter 5 will end with a conclusion.

CHAPTER 5: LESSONS LEARNED FROM ALUMNI EXPERIENCES

The previous chapter provided an overview of the research findings, focusing on the expectations and experiences of Indigenous Studies (INDGST) alumni. This chapter provides an analysis of the research findings in a larger context, focusing on how well the goals of INDGST are reflected in the goals of INDGST programs and the experiences of INDGST alumni. I draw on both alumni analysis of their own experiences, as well as my analysis of their experiences. Further, I analyze alumni experiences in a global context, providing a comparative analysis between the program in Norway and the programs in Canada. This research demonstrates that there are inconsistencies in the quality, depth and breadth of Indigenous Studies master's programs in Norway and Canada and a gap between student expectations and their actual experiences.

The chapter begins with a description of the analytical approach. Then it will provide an overview of the goals of INDGST and analyze how well the program goals at the four universities reflected the discipline's goals. This is followed by an analysis of alumni experiences against the discipline's goals and an elaboration on what this tells us about the programs. Next, I will look at the programs in a comparative context between Norway and Canada to understand the differences and similarities of INDGST in a global setting. Lastly, this chapter will conclude with a summary of the research findings and recommendations based on alumni experiences.

5.1. Analytical Approach

Anti-colonial theory interrogates the power configurations embedded in ideas, cultures and histories of knowledge production, validation, and use (Dei and Asgharzadeh 2001). According to Dei and Asgharzadeh (2001) the anti-colonial discursive framework argues that power and discourse are not entirely possessed by the colonizer. Rather "the colonized also has the power to question, challenge and subsequently subvert the oppressive structures of power and privilege" (2001, 300). INDGST is the expression of anti-colonial theory. The discipline challenges the colonial structure, both within academia and beyond. INDGST interrogates the power-structures within our society, using methods and methodologies that are rooted in

Indigenous cultures and knowledges, and theorizes from an Indigenous standpoint. In academia, INDGST has the power to teach emerging scholars how to see and question the colonial structures around them and teach them alternative ways to approach research and learning that is grounded in Indigenous cultures and histories. INDGST also challenges these structures by introducing new pedagogies such as land-based learning, that diverges from the hegemonic lecture-based pedagogy where professors impart knowledge in a classroom setting, that most universities abide by. Elizabeth Cook-Lynn writes "the truth is that Native American Studies does not 'fit,' nor can it, nor should it. Rather, its meaningfulness stems from the fact that it challenges almost everything that America has to offer in education and society" (1997, 25). Cook-Lynn (1997) explains the importance of INDGST and emphasizes its position as an anticolonial discipline. The anti-colonial discursive framework informs my analysis of INDGST programs as the framework embodies the foundational goals of INDGST. It also informs my analysis of alumni experiences in their MA programs because alumni expectations were met in the classes offered in INDGST that provided Indigenous perspectives. This strongly demonstrates that those INDGST classes grounded in Indigenous perspectives met Cook-Lynn's (1997) standards that INDGST should be an anti-colonial undertaking.

Alumni contributions to this study are inherently subjective. As participants talked about their personal experiences in their INDGST MA programs, their reflections were influenced by their expectations of their program and their own analysis of their experiences. My interpretation of their experiences is, therefore, also influenced by their subjectivity to a certain degree as my analysis respects their perceptions and their analysis of their experiences. This means that my analysis presents their understanding of their experiences while contextualizing it within a larger context. As a current INDGST MA student, I am an insider and have a personal understanding of the topics alumni discussed. In Chapter 3, I explained the various ways in which I hold a status as both insider and outsider, being Indigenous, an INDGST MA student, and being both Canadian and Norwegian. These qualities shaped the ways I connected with participants and influenced our ability to connect on various topics and ideas that participants shared. With these subjectivities in mind, my analysis is intended to provide a deeper understanding of their experiences within the anti-colonial framework. While this sample is small, it may reflect the experiences of the larger body of INDGST graduate students locally and globally. Clearly more

research needs to be done with more INDGST MA alumni to gather more data to determine if the following analysis has a broader application.

5.2. Indigenous Studies Program Goals Reflect the Discipline's Goals

When INDGST first emerged in post-secondary institutions, scholars discussed what the discipline should look like. The initial vision of INDGST was focused on creating a new distinct discipline that distinguished INDGST from other mainstream disciplines by centering Indigenous voices and creating space for Indigenous scholars and students in academia (Stordahl 2008; Taner 1999; Thornton 1978; Wheeler 2001). As the discipline became more established, a set of goals were outlined by INDGST scholars. These goals provide a standard for INDGST, they describe what the discipline is and why it is important. INDGST programs were expected to mirror these goals.

This set of goals for the discipline was established by early scholars in the discipline and are still important today, as they provide a framework for what INDGST is. The five primary goals of the discipline are: (1) the discipline needs to be autonomous from other disciplines (autonomy) (Cook-Lynn 1997); (2) to develop and use Indigenous methodologies, frameworks and theories that are rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing (Indigenous ways of knowing) (Cook-Lynn 1997; Kuokkanen 2000; Kuokkanen 2005; Porsanger 2004; Thornton 1978; Thornton 1998); (3) to conduct research that brings about positive change to Indigenous peoples and their communities (community benefits) (Anderson and Cidro 2019; Cook-Lynn 1997; Castleden, Morgan and Lamb 2012; Innes 2010; Lomawaima 2007; Schnarch 2004); (4) a commitment to center Indigenous peoples, voices, and perspectives (Indigenous perspectives) (Innes 2010, 2; Lomawaima 2007) and; (5) is dedicated to social and political transformation (transformative) (Lomawaima 2007). These five goals are the foundational blocks of INDGST.

In Chapter 4, Table 3 provides an overview of the program description and goals of each of the four universities in this study. Although these are listed as two separate categories, the program descriptions also include goals for their programs as they show what skills their program expects students to graduate with. The University of Tromsø (UiT) presents its program as a multi-disciplinary program with a global focus. Their program goals are to: (1) advance students' knowledge in INDGST; (2) to teach students new research skills and; (3) to teach

students how to apply the knowledge and skills that they will gain during the program in their professional lives (UiT n.d). UiT's goals prepare students for a future as INDGST scholars. Even though they state that their program is multi-disciplinary, their description and goals give the impression of a well-rounded INDGST program. The MA program curriculum focuses on teaching students about INDGST topics such as Indigenous issues, similarities and differences between cultural contexts, concepts of Indigenous peoples as used in areas of research and politics, how to use Indigenous methodologies, frameworks and theories, a focus on both the global and local history and movements, and Indigenous research ethics and the responsibility of the researcher (UiT n.d.). These teaching goals reflect the discipline's goal of Indigenous ways of knowing, community benefits, and Indigenous perspectives. Their goal of teaching students how to apply the knowledge and skills that they will gain during the program in their professional lives also reflects the discipline's transformative goal as INDGST scholars have the skillset to challenge the colonial structures in our societies. Their program prepares students to be critical of the colonial structures and to learn how to work and do research from an Indigenous standpoint. However, UiT's goals do not reflect autonomy. Since it is a multidisciplinary program, where the Center for Sámi Studies (SESAM) shares their teaching responsibilities with other disciplines, the INDGST MA program at UiT does not provide a program that is autonomous from other disciplines. Even though UiT does not present their program as anti-colonial, the content of their curriculums suggest that their courses are anticolonial.

The University of Winnipeg (UW) presents its program with a local focus but express the importance of the international context as well. Their goals are to: (1) provide students with theoretical and practical skills to examine and address matters of good governance, grounded in Indigenous thoughts and values; (2) to promote leadership and skills in areas relevant to the program topic, preparing them for careers that benefit Indigenous communities and; (3) create an intellectual space of excellence to engage scholars in important conversations (The University of Winnipeg n.d.). Their approach to education shows the potential anti-colonial nature of their program. UW emphasizes that they provide studies in matters of good governance grounded in Indigenous thoughts and values (The University of Winnipeg n.d.), which offers their students an alternative approach to governance, and provides them with the opportunity to learn about governance from an Indigenous standpoint, rather than from a colonial understanding of

governance. Their program goals reflect the discipline's goals as the program is autonomous from other disciplines, they teach students about Indigenous ways of knowing, they emphasize a future for alumni that includes community benefits, they outline an education that is grounded in Indigenous perspectives, and they emphasize teaching students' leadership skills in Indigenous Governance which prepares them for transformative work.

The University of Lethbridge (UL) INDGST program states that their departmental goals are: (1) to offer an international comparative approach; (2) dedication to community-engaged scholarship and; (3) meeting the research needs and priorities of Indigenous peoples in Canada and throughout the world (University of Lethbridge n.d.). Their specific goal on communityengaged scholarship and meeting the research needs of Indigenous peoples is important because these aspects reflect the discipline's goals of community benefits, Indigenous perspectives and Indigenous ways of knowing. Their international focus also reflects Lomawaima's statement that INDGST "favors multiple, complicating, diverse perspectives over a monolithic 'one size or story fits all' approach" (2007, 1). This provides opportunities for students to understand INDGST in a global context and to focus on several different Indigenous peoples, understanding the diversity of Indigenous peoples globally, while their goals of community-engaged scholarship describe a local focus that allows students to engage with topics of importance locally as well. Their program goals do not include a description of autonomy, but as the MA program is hosted by UL's INDGST department, there is the assumption that the program is autonomous from other disciplines. Their program goals do not, however, reflect any transformative aspect. The INDGST MA program at UL, therefore, comprises four of the five discipline goals.

Lastly, the University of Northern British Columbia (UNBC) website describes their new cohort structure and explains its qualities. Both their description and goals include goals for the program. These goals are: (1) to prepare students for careers in community service, law, and culture; (2) to create space for students to learn from award-winning faculty and Elders recognized for ground-breaking and respectful research, engagement, and curriculum design; (3) to provide students with courses taught in First Nations communities, internships, and community-based research projects and; (4) to provide courses that orient students to Indigenous perspectives as a starting point for description and analysis, theory and praxis, and contextualizes

issues from their perspective (UNBC n.d.). UNBC's goals largely focus on the future career paths of their students, thus reflecting the transformative goal of INDGST as they intend to prepare students for careers in community service, law, and culture with the anti-colonial framework and toolset alumni should graduate with from INDGST. Their statement of learning from award-winning faculty and Elders also shows that the program is dedicated to teaching Indigenous perspectives and bringing in people with vast knowledge to teach. McLeod (2000) states that Elders are important to have meaningful INDGST. Bringing in Elders to teach reflects the anti-colonial nature of the program as it displays a commitment to centering Indigenous voices and acknowledging the many versions of teachers and knowledge holders. UNBC goals also state that their faculty do ground-breaking and respectful research, engagement, and curriculum design, implying that students in the discipline will learn how to do respectful research, engage with Indigenous peoples, and learn from a carefully crafted curriculum. UNBC's goal of providing courses taught in First Nations communities, internships, and community-based research projects, demonstrates the discipline goals of community benefits. By creating opportunities for students to engage with local communities, the program is accommodating for students to do good research and assisting them to create connections that may be beneficial for their thesis research. Their last goal of providing courses from Indigenous perspectives to teach students description and analysis, theory and praxis, and to contextualize issues from this perspective provides an education that is rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing. The INDGST MA program at UNBC is also hosted by their First Nations Studies (FNS) department which makes the program an autonomous program. Their program goals, therefore, comprise all five of the discipline's goals.

Each of the four INDGST programs reflect the discipline's goals in their individual ways. UW and UNBC comprise of all five discipline goals, whereas UiT and UL comprise four goals. Even though none of the programs specifically state in their goals that their program is in an autonomous discipline, the three Canadian MA programs are hosted by INDGST or FNS departments which shows that their programs are in autonomous disciplines. This suggests that all courses are offered from their departments. UiT on the other hand does not host their program in an autonomous discipline, as their INDGST MA program is hosted in cooperation between several disciplines (multidisciplinary). UiT, UW, and UNBC also outline specific goals that align with the discipline's goal of being transformative, whereas UL does not address this. All four

universities reflect the discipline's goals of Indigenous ways of knowing, community benefits, and Indigenous perspectives. These three goals are arguably the most important to INDGST MA programs as they encompass the key qualities that make a well-rounded INDGST scholar, namely a commitment to develop and use Indigenous methodologies, frameworks and theories that are rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing, a commitment to conduct research that brings about positive change to Indigenous peoples and their communities and a commitment to center Indigenous peoples, voices, and perspectives. The first goal of autonomy is more related to the discipline in academic institutions and the last goal of being transformative inherently follows the three goals that were reflected within all four universities, as all three goals provide the toolset required for social and political transformation.

5.3. How well are the Discipline Goals Reflected in Alumni Experiences?

The goals of INDGST were generally reflected in the goals of INDGST MA programs. But how well are the goals of the discipline reflected in INDGST alumni experiences? Alumni expectations were similar to the goals of the discipline. They had expectations of an Indigenous focus in their curriculum, faculty that provided Indigenous perspectives, and community connections that would give students the opportunity to engage with local Indigenous communities. Alumni experiences tell us that only UW provide an INDGST MA program that aligns closely with the discipline's goals. Participants from UiT, UL and UNBC, however, had varying experiences.

At UiT, alumni received Sámi and Indigenous perspectives in their core courses that were hosted by SESAM. They were also exposed to Indigenous perspectives in a few courses hosted by other departments where the professors included Indigenous perspectives in their coursework, and curriculums. According to participants, these courses elaborated on Indigenous topics and were grounded in Indigenous ways of knowing, which aligns well with the discipline's goal of Indigenous perspectives. One of the required SESAM courses at UiT was an Indigenous methodology and methods course. This is significant as it aligns with the discipline's goal of Indigenous ways of knowing. In addition to learning about Indigenous topics, research methods, methodologies and theories, alumni from UiT also shared that the program organized a field trip at the beginning of the program that took students to a Sámi community where they engaged with people outside the academic setting. This gave them an understanding of why community

connections are important and signify the discipline's goal of community benefits. By going on the field trip and meeting Sámi people outside the academic setting, students were able to learn from people in the community and get an alternative learning experience. With Indigenous perspectives, Indigenous ways of knowing, and community benefits, in some instances the INDGST program at UiT included three of the five goals outlined as important to the discipline.

While some courses in their program focused on Indigenous topics and conveyed various Indigenous perspectives, alumni from UiT also expressed a dissatisfaction with most courses hosted by other departments as these lacked Indigenous perspectives. This is due to the multidisciplinary nature of the program where the majority of their courses are hosted by other departments (UiT n.d.). The course titles, as listed in table 3, gives the impression that there will be an Indigenous focus in courses hosted by both SESAM by other disciplines. According to Millie and Leonora, however, several courses hosted by other disciplines lacked an Indigenous focus and failed to provide any Indigenous perspectives in the curriculum. Alumni were, therefore, only partly exposed to Indigenous perspectives in their program. Millie noted that to her understanding, the INDGST program coordinators at UiT did not have full autonomy to choose the courses included in their program set-up, and therefore could not control what INDGST students were learning in the program courses that were hosted by other departments. Situated within an anti-colonial discursive framework, the lack of autonomy over the program challenges the INDGST goal of the discipline being autonomous from other disciplines. Even though the program is striving to give students a good INDGST education by providing good courses hosted by SESAM, there are still challenges with the execution as the program relies on the larger university and other department to fulfil their program requirements. They therefore must surrender some of the autonomy over the program which challenges its anti-colonial focus as they lose control over how courses from other disciplines are taught.

Yada, the third UiT participant, did not express the same concerns about Indigenous perspectives in his coursework, as Millie and Leonora do. When asked if his courses reflected Indigenous perspectives and worldviews he said yes, agreeing that both the courses from SESAM and the courses from other departments reflected Indigenous perspectives and worldviews. This is very different from the answers of the other participants from UiT, which I believe stem from Yada's previous and ongoing relations with the university as this relationship

may have influenced his perspective on his education and impacted his answers. Because of his relations with the university, he may be more hesitant to critique his education than Millie and Leonora who do not have any relations with the university beyond their experience in the MA program.

In addition to being dissatisfied with the coursework, Millie expressed a dissatisfaction with the lack of community engagement. Although they did go on one field trip, Millie stated that she had expected the program to provide more opportunities for community engagement and was disappointed by the lack of further engagement throughout the program. Since the field trip took them to Manndalen, which is a couple hours from the university city, these connections were not long-lasting for the alumni and made it difficult for them to engage with people from the community beyond that initial trip. It is important to note, however, that the program does not advertise any other community connection than this trip. Millie had a higher expectation of more community engagement which reflects her understanding of what an INDGST program should look like, rather than the actual UiT program description.

These alumni reflections from participants show that, even though the program is advertising for an education that is grounded in INDGST and aligns with the discipline's goals, several aspects of their program fail to provide students with a well-rounded INDGST education leaving alumni with overall experiences that did not meet their expectations. The INDGST program at UiT reflected the discipline's goals of Indigenous ways of knowing, community benefits, and Indigenous perspectives, through their courses hosted by SESAM and the field trip. However, Indigenous perspectives were missing from some courses taught by professors in other disciplines, and community benefits should have been expanded upon, according to participants.

In contrast to alumni from UiT, the experiences of alumni from UW were more positive. Their overall experiences portray a program that does a great job of including Indigenous perspectives and worldviews throughout the curriculum. MJ specifically outlined a course focused on Indigenous wisdom and ways of knowing, stating that it created a foundation for understanding the discipline and the knowledges it is rooted in. This reflects the Indigenous perspectives-goal of the discipline. The three UW alumni stated that most of the courses focused on local Indigenous knowledges, histories, and teachings, but professors also drew on

international scholars and concepts, by including readings in the curriculum that were written by Indigenous peoples from other places. Sam also stated that their professors often brought in guest lecturers who provided new and alternative perspectives to their course topic which was very beneficial.

UW participants further stated that their program was connected to local Indigenous communities, creating numerous opportunities for students to interact with Indigenous peoples in the area, to participate in various activities in communities and engage with people in a meaningful way. Louise from UW brought up an immersive language course she took where she was able to be on the land and learn directly from Elders in a relaxed environment through workshops and songs. This course gave students the opportunity to learn outside the traditional lecture-based structure. This anti-colonial and transformative pedagogy is important to INDGST as it gives the discipline a distinct way to challenge the structure of western universities by including teaching methods more closely aligned to Indigenous ways of knowing and knowledge transmission. This dedication to transforming the institutional structures is important to INDGST as change is necessary for the discipline to grow. It exemplifies how INDGST as a discipline is challenging the norm and colonial view on education by creating opportunities for students to learn in different spaces and from people who don't necessarily have a degree and who you wouldn't see in a university program otherwise. As Peter Kulchyski writes, "[Indigenous Studies] challenges the institutional form of the very institutions that house it" (2000, 16). They teach students that learning can happen outside the institution and that teachings can come from people outside of the academic setting, reinforcing the description of INDGST as an anti-colonial discipline. According to their own alumni, the UW INDGST program clearly embodies all five goals of the discipline.

The INDGST MA program at UL is difficult to evaluate in relation to the goals of the discipline as the program does not offer any MA courses with Indigenous content. Clearly the stated goals of INDGST are only meant for their undergraduate program. The departmental goals of offering an international comparative approach, being dedicated to community-engaged scholarship and teaching students the importance of research meeting the needs and priorities of Indigenous peoples was not visible in their education. Even though the department states that they offer courses that engender a rigorous and respectful understanding of Indigenous peoples'

languages, knowledges, cultures, histories, politics, arts, intellectual traditions, and research methodologies (University of Lethbridge n.d.), participants did not experience any of this in their program. According to the two UL participants, all their courses were hosted by other departments, in a cohort of MA students from other disciplines. None of the coursework included any Indigenous perspectives, ideas, or topics at all, and none of their courses were taught by professors from the INDGST department. When I talked to both Leon and Ira, I was very perplexed and confused as to what made their MAs programs an INDGST program since none of their education included any INDGST courses. When I asked them, Ira thought about it for a second before he said "I really don't know. I think it was certainly what you wanted to study." He then went on to tell me that his supervisor was a faculty of the INDGST department, so he was able to explore Indigenous methodologies and theories for his thesis research and writing. It was not something he was taught in his coursework, rather, he had to teach himself with input from his supervisor. The goals of the discipline were only reflected in participants' thesis projects. Both Leon and Ira gave me permission to share the topics of their research which were directly connected to their own communities and histories.

Leon did archival research for his thesis, focusing on the discourse on treaties and selfsufficiency between the 1969 Canadian federal government's White Paper and the 1970 Indian Association of Alberta's Red Paper. He chose a topic that centered Indigenous politics and historically important events that showed persistence, political assertions, and resistance from Indigenous peoples. His thesis was therefore very relevant to INDGST as it centered Indigenous peoples and explored a topic that is very important to Indigenous politics. Ira's research reflected the goals of INDGST. Ira conducted research with his community, looking at how the government and industry who are interested in resource developments close to Indigenous territory can consult with Indigenous communities in an effective and efficient way that respects the Indigenous ties to the land. He stated that this research took longer than a regular two-year MA program as it was important for him to make sure he did it in a respectful way that would not harm his relations, the people he was doing research with. He also stated that during his thesis defense he acknowledged that this thesis was not written for the benefit of the university, rather it was written for the benefit of the community. He explained that his thesis was only necessary for the credentials he would receive as he does a lot of outward facing business for his community, meaning that he works with organizations outside his community who value

academic degrees. Elaine Coburn (2013) writes that Indigenous research is a form of resistance to the history of colonial domination, which still exist in the colonial structures of our society, including universities. Doing research for the community and not for the university, therefore, challenges the colonial understanding of universities and post-secondary education. This is another way students were pushing back at the colonial structure of universities and challenging the meaning of research.

Despite being able to shape their thesis around Indigenous topics, which met the INDGST goals of community benefits and Indigenous ways of knowing, neither Leon nor Ira had any INDGST courses, topics, or perspectives in their program. The INDGST program at UL therefore does not follow through on its description or goals at all. Surprisingly enough, both Ira and Leon stated that they were content with their MA program. This was because they were both mature students with careers outside of academia, who were content with being able to focus their thesis on topics of importance to them. They both also had an undergraduate degree in INDGST, so they had a foundational understanding of the discipline and had already studied Indigenous topics in academia previously. The INDGST MA program at UL therefore does not provide students with any distinct education that reflects the goals of the discipline. Rather, they have to seek out these qualities in their own thesis work.

At UNBC, the alumni I interviewed had different experiences, which may be because they were in the program at different times. Corbin, who graduated before the program made a switch to the cohort-structure it has today, was fairly pleased with his education. He stated that the program included Indigenous perspectives in the coursework, and that professors included perspectives on topics that were new and diverse to him. He specifically expressed a satisfaction with his methodology course and emphasized its importance in relation to his thesis work. He also stated that the program had a community-oriented focus. This was shown through courses that were taught outside the institution itself, including a course where they were learning about the canoe and its significance while building a canoe. Students also had to create a working relationship with an Indigenous organization through a mandatory field course in the program. To Corbin, the connections he created during his field course were long lasting and really improved his experience in the program and his ability to work on his thesis, as he ended up working with the organization for his research. This field course specifically emphasizes the last

three goals of the discipline: community benefits, Indigenous perspectives, and transformative. UNBC, therefore, had a strong sense of what INDGST is and did a good job of educating emerging scholars in the discipline in a way that aligned well with its goals. The overall positive experience and strong connection to the discipline's goals, however, changed as the structure of the MA program changed.

Yahlnaaw and Natalie both graduated from the FNS MA program at UNBC after it implemented its cohort structure. They did not have the same experience as Corbin. Yahlnaaw and Natalie expressed dissatisfaction with the lack of Indigenous perspectives in their coursework. They both gave an example of a course taught by a non-Indigenous professor who prioritized teaching western theories, only addressing Indigenous scholars in relation to how they used western theories in their own Indigenous research. There was, however, no content on Indigenous theories or knowledges that was rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing. The two UNBC participants were, therefore, very disappointed by the lack of Indigenous perspectives in their curriculum for this course. Despite this negative course experience, Natalie stated that she took other courses that focused on Indigenous perspectives and Indigenous ways of knowing. She specifically expressed a satisfaction with a course on Indigenous methodologies, which provided students with a good understanding of how to apply them to their own research. According to participants, the program provided Indigenous perspectives in courses taught by both Indigenous scholars and non-Indigenous scholars, but it also includes courses and professors who did not provide Indigenous perspectives. Duane Champagne argues that INDGST should not be exclusionary and that both Indigenous and non-Indigenous scholars have something to add to the discipline, but it is crucial that all scholars put in the effort and follow the tenants of the discipline. He writes "this can come only with training, motivation, sensitivity, knowledge and study" (1996, 78). There is space for Indigenous and non-Indigenous scholars in INDGST, but their approach to the discipline needs to reflect the discipline's goals, which some professors at UNBC failed to do, according to participants.

In addition to a lack of Indigenous focused curriculums, Yahlnaaw and Natalie also stated that their program did not create opportunities for students to connect with local Indigenous communities or engage with Indigenous peoples outside of academia as part of their program. This is surprising, considering the program description outlines courses taught in First Nations

communities, internships, and community-based research projects, none of which the two participants experienced. They both stated that their only chance to work with Indigenous peoples was when they were doing their individual thesis research, where they themselves created connections with their research community. Despite the disappointment in courses, Natalie did express gratitude towards her supervisor, who was very supportive and helpful when she started her research process. Yahlnaaw on the other hand struggled to find a supervisor that would support her research project and was left to her own devices, constantly debating whether it was worth completing her degree or not as she lacked support from the department. Their experiences with supervisors also influenced them both and explains why Yahlnaaw was more disappointed by her overall experience than Natalie was.

In recent years, the FNS program at UNBC has changed to align less with the goals of INDGST. Alumni do not blame the cohort-structure for their poor experiences, rather they emphasize a lack of faculty that teaches Indigenous perspectives and a lack of organized community engagement in the program. Corbin who graduated first found that his program met the departmental goals of autonomy (as all his courses were hosted by FNS department), Indigenous ways of knowing, community benefits, Indigenous perspectives and it was transformative. Natalie and Yahlnaaw, however, had mixed experiences. Their program had autonomy as the courses were hosted by the FNS department, but this was not always reflected in their experiences. Even though some courses taught them about Indigenous ways of knowing, community benefits, and Indigenous perspectives, other courses failed to do so.

Participants from three of the four universities shared experiences that show that the initial goals of INDGST are present in current INDGST MA programs, to varying degrees. UW had the only program that embodied all five goals of the discipline. UNBC used to embody all five goals, however, this has changed. Based on the experiences of more recent alumni, the program only encompassed four of the five discipline goals, albeit to a varying degree as some courses reflected Indigenous perspectives and Indigenous ways of knowing while others did not. UiT also had varying experiences where parts of the program reflected three of the discipline's goals, whereas other parts did not. UL, however, did not reflect any of the discipline's goals. Yet participants were able to create the connection to INDGST themselves through their individual

thesis work by centering Indigenous voices and focusing on topics that were significant to Indigenous communities and their histories.

There are some interesting parallels between how well alumni experiences met the discipline's goals and how well program goals met the discipline's goals. UW was the only program that met all five discipline goals, based on alumni experiences which coincides with their program goals that also met all five goals. UNBC is interesting because it used to encompass all five discipline goals, just like their program goals do, however, the recent changes in the program have impacted student experiences to only reflect four of the discipline's goals. UiT only met three of the discipline's goals based on alumni experiences, whereas their program goals met four. UL diverges completely from their program goals as the program encompasses four of the discipline's goals whereas participant experiences tell us that the program did not align with any of the discipline goals. Alumni had to seek it out for themselves during their thesis work. Where INDGST MA program goals met the discipline's goals, alumni were more likely to have experiences that met their expectations.

Analyzing alumni experiences in INDGST programs, reveals what works for students and what needs to be improved. INDGST alumni expected a program where all their required courses cover Indigenous topics from an Indigenous perspective, meaning that it includes course readings by Indigenous scholars, and present discussions and lectures on the topics from an Indigenous standpoint, rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing. Students also desired their programs to create opportunities for them to engage with communities and create connections with local Indigenous peoples. Further, INDGST alumni experiences demonstrate that there needs to be a balance of Indigenous faculty in INDGST programs. Where non-Indigenous faculty exist, they need to ensure that their courses are centered around Indigenous topics and creating space for Indigenous perspectives to be included. Alumni also desired to be in an autonomous INDGST program as chances were higher for their courses to be grounded in Indigenous ways of knowing if they were hosted in the discipline itself.

5.4. Indigenous Studies in a Global Context – Comparing Norway and Canada

Participants at all four universities had a range of experiences that differed both within each program and across all four programs. There were, however, some factors that were unique

to the program in Norway and some factors that could only be found in Canada. There were also a range of similarities between the countries, which informs our knowledge on INDGST in a global context.

A distinct difference between the program in Norway and the programs in Canada is in student demographics. In Chapter 4 the demographic profile of cohorts at each university was outlined. At UiT in Norway, all three participants agreed that there was a majority of international students. Both Leonora and Mille shared that their cohorts consisted entirely of international students. According to participants, this is partly due to the university's interest in international students as they advertise their programs widely. Norway also offers free tuition for domestic and international students alike (Wiers-Jenssen 2019) which makes the program more attractive. The program itself states that they aim to recruit students from all parts of the world to strengthen the comparative aspects of the program (UiT n.d.). Although one can only speculate as to why there is a majority of international students, as a Sámi person from Norway, I believe that one of the reasons few local people take this program is because it is not widely advertised for students in Norway. Growing up in a Norwegian school system, I had no idea INDGST existed as a discipline or that furthering your education on Indigenous topics was an option. I only discovered the existence of the discipline when I moved to the United States to complete a bachelor's degree, which was the first time I was introduced to INDGST. This may, therefore, be one reason for the lack of Sámi or even Norwegian students in the program at UiT. I also believe that many Sámi students, especially those who speak the language, rather seek out education at the Sámi College University as the entire institution is structured and run by Sámi people (Thingnes 2020). It also offers a variety of programs related to language and teaching of the Sámi language, at an undergraduate level, something UiT does not. As interesting as why there are so few Indigenous students, or even Norwegian students that choose to do the MA of INDGST at the UiT is, this topic is outside the scope of this study.

In the Canadian programs there were barely any international students. According to participants from UW, there were a few international students in their cohorts, however, majority of students were domestic students. UNBC and UL only had domestic students. UW did emphasize a global Indigenous focus in their program, which may account for some international

students. UNBC on the other hand only emphasized a local perspective in their program, making it more attractive to domestic students as the program focuses on the Canadian setting.

Another significant difference between student demographics in Norway and Canada is indigeneity. In Norway, few students were Indigenous. Neither Millie nor Yada from UiT had any Indigenous students in their cohort. At the Canadian universities, however, majority of students were Indigenous. Participants from UNBC stated that majority of their cohorts were local Indigenous students. Since UNBC emphasizes a focus on First Nations topics and perspectives, the high number of local Indigenous students is understandable as course topics were more relevant to them. UW also had a higher number of Indigenous students overall than the program in Norway. Since UL only admits students on an individual basis, little can be said for the cohorts as both my participants were the only INDGST students in their cohorts at the time, but the two UL participants were both local Indigenous students which was similar to students from UNBC. Ira said that there were some Indigenous students in his cohort, but he was not sure if they were doing their MA in INDGST or were students from a different discipline. If they were in INDGST, this speaks to the lack of community for graduate students in the INDGST program at UL.

Despite these differences, some similarities also exist. At UiT, UW and UNBC, majority of students were women. This is also reflected in the identity of participants as I interview seven women and four men. Research finds that there is a majority of Indigenous women who enter and complete higher education (Brayboy, Solyom and Castagno 2015; R.A. Malatest 2002; R.A. Malatest 2010; Roy 2004; Ross et.al. 2012), making it more likely to find women in INDGST programs as well. Malatest (2010) states that the majority of Indigenous women in post-secondary institutions are mature students with children, meaning that they have a higher level of responsibility outside of school as well. Walton et.al. (2020) further highlights this and states that there is a lack of affordable childcare and support for women, which creates further barriers for students to succeed. This is therefore more interesting, as Indigenous women continue to enter post-secondary at higher rates than their male counterparts.

Since INDGST is hosted in institutions that have historically excluded marginalized peoples and perspectives, the anti-colonial discipline does face some challenges within these

institutions. A similarity between Norway and Canada was alumni's ability to evaluate the colonial structures of universities, based on their experiences in their INDGST programs. In Norway, most of the challenges alumni faced were due to the multi-disciplinary structure of the program. According to Millie, SESAM could only suggest what the content of courses from other departments should cover. They had no control of how the courses were taught or who taught them. She further stated that the university itself had a lot of control over what happened in the program which limited the possibilities of what the INDGST program could look like. Alumni were, therefore, learning the challenges of moving between Indigenous and non-Indigenous learning and research as they had to re-adapt their approach to courses and coursework depending on the department and professor that taught each course. Heather Harris (2002) reflects on the paradox of Indigenous higher education, outlining how she, as an Indigenous educator, navigates the space between Indigenous teaching methods and western educational institutions. Harris (2002) lists the many things that challenge Indigenous learning in western institutions, including the notion of objectivity when approaching research, to learn in a classroom setting, the educational hierarchy and more. It is, therefore, challenging to fit INDGST within these colonial parameters as they limit the discipline's creative freedom to structure programs to align with the anti-colonial nature of the discipline. With a multi-disciplinary program, the structure is challenged even further as the program relies on several disciplines for courses, and as such, cannot ensure that all courses are grounded in Indigenous ways of knowing. The structure of the western university setting therefore challenges the INDGST program in Norway as it fails to allow students in INDGST to be immersed in Indigenous ways of knowing.

In Canada, similar challenges exist. Based on alumni reflections, these challenges are closely connected to the lack of funding that INDGST departments receive. At both UW and UNBC alumni stated that their departments were underfunded. At UW, MJ discussed the lack of funding in relation to extracurricular activities that the faculty wanted to organize for students to get them more involved in community work and to be more immersed in the Indigenous communities in the area. Sam also discussed a lack of funding in relation to research opportunities for students and how there were few ongoing projects in the department that students could join due to a lack of funding in the department. For Louise at UW, the lack of funding was more visible in relation to the department's hiring process. She gave the example of being asked to teach an undergraduate introductory course because they were struggling to find

someone to fill the position when she was only in the second semester of her first year in the program. Louise felt extremely underqualified and uncomfortable with this offer as she believed someone more qualified should be teaching that course. To her, this signified the struggles in the department, specifically in relation to pressures from the larger university. The course she had been asked to teach was a newly required course for all undergraduate students, which put a lot of pressure on the INDGST department as they suddenly had a huge influx of students seeking out courses in the discipline. Adam Gaudry and Danielle Lorenz write on the implementation of Indigenous content requirements in Canadian universities, stating that there was a concern among faculty that "additional administrative and teaching burdens would be placed on already overworked and under-resourced individuals," (2018, 165) which is what Louise witnessed at UW. Since the faculty was not prepared, they did not have the capacity to take on this responsibility without new hires or more funding, which led to the issues trickling down to students who were considered as alternative replacements to accommodate this new requirement. It also impacted student learning as professors were visibly overworked, leaving little to no extra time to support students who were needing assistance to move through the MA program.

This lack of qualified professors is common in INDGST departments in Canada and was visible at UNBC as well. Natalie stated that there was a great turnover of professors while she was in the program, so the faculty was very small and not well resourced or supported. She suspected that since it was such a small program in Northern BC, it may be difficult to attract new professors. This is interesting as the department website states it has a great faculty (UNBC n.d.), yet the faculty was constantly changing. Natalie further explained that the department seemed to have issues retaining good Indigenous professors because professors in the department were overworked and underfunded. Yahlnaaw also witnessed this, stating that most professors coming into the department were non-Indigenous professors. She believed there was a lack of Indigenous applicants, partly because the program did not leave much room for bringing in Indigenous ways of learning, re-emphasizing her experience with the non-Indigenous theory professor, and potentially because of a lack of job security. She also stated that the lack of Indigenous professors may be because there are not enough Indigenous scholars overall who are eligible and willing to fill all these positions. Russell Thornton (1998, 102) writes "an acceptable Native American studies unit where less than half of the faculty is Native American is hard to imagine." He continues to explain that there is space for non-Indigenous faculty who are "friends of Native Americans [...] in the truest sense of the word" (102), meaning that they approach their position embodying the goals of the discipline. However, INDGST units should prioritize the space for Indigenous scholars.

Participants from UL said they struggled due to the lack of Indigenous perspectives in their coursework and the colonial framework they were being taught. This exemplifies scholars' argument that culturally relevant curriculums are vital for student success (R.A. Malatest, 2010; Marroquín, 2020; Oxendine Taub and Cain 2020; Restoule et al., 2013; Walton et al, 2020). Due to the structure of the program, students at UL also felt lonely as they faced the challenge of being one of the few Indigenous students in their cohorts and lacked the relationality that students get through their cohorts when everyone is in the same program. They also lacked peers to discuss common ideas with. Further, Leon found it challenging to find scholarly resources related to their thesis subjects as these resources were not readily available.

There are both similarities and differences between the program in Norway and the programs in Canada. There is a majority of women in INDGST in both countries. Norway's program attracts more non-Indigenous international students whereas Canada attracts more domestic Indigenous students. From interviews with alumni, we see that INDGST as a discipline faces challenges due to its position in western post-secondary institutions. It is, however, important to note that alumni may not know, or fully understand, the pressures and constraints that INDGST departments and programs experience structurally. Therefore, the challenges outlined in this section only reflect how alumni understood INDGST programs' challenges in western post-secondary institutions and not necessarily the complete picture. As alumni experienced them, in both Norway and Canada these challenges are visible through the lack of Indigenous perspectives in some of their coursework. In Canada, this is also visible through the lack of support students receive from faculty due to them being overworked and underpaid, and the extra constraints that this may put on students.

5.5. Conclusion

This study sought to explore what the expectations and experiences of alumni were in INDGST programs in Norway and Canada and elaborate on what this tells us about how INDGST programs operates in these countries. I have argued that the inconsistencies in the

quality, depth, and breadth of Indigenous Studies master's programs in Canada and Norway are problematic as student experiences do not match their expectations. Using semi-structured interviews and conversational method, this study has provided data on INDGST alumni experiences from four separate yet comparable INDGST programs in Norway and Canada. The data shows that alumni expected their programs to include: Indigenous focus and perspectives in their programs; organized options for community connections; Indigenous faculty, or non-Indigenous faculty who include Indigenous work, perspectives and ways of knowing in their courses and; intellectual challenges. Students at all four universities had varying experiences around these expectations, but majority stated that their expectations were not met.

Through an anti-colonial discursive framework, the analysis illustrates that UW and UNBC program goals embodied all goals of the discipline, whereas UiT and UL embodied four of the discipline's goals. Alumni experiences, however, show that only the INDGST MA program at UW provided an education that was grounded in the goals of the discipline. UNBC and UiT provided a range of experiences that aligned with the goals of the discipline, while simultaneously failing to provide these same experiences in other instances. Alumni experiences at UL did not reflect any INDGST goals. Even though alumni from UW agreed that the program met their expectations and that their experiences reflected the goals of the discipline, alumni still emphasized a strain on the department and on the students in the department because of the lack of support INDGST received from the university itself. UNBC alumni also witnessed similar challenges, while UiT and UL alumni experienced challenges due to the multi-disciplinary structure.

Alumni experiences demonstrate that the best practices in INDGST programs included: courses that cover Indigenous topics from an Indigenous perspective and that were grounded in Indigenous ways of knowing; opportunities for community engagement, and; faculty that were dedicated to providing an education that reflects the goals of the discipline. Based on these best practices, recommendations for INDGST programs are clear. INDGST programs need to provide courses that focus on Indigenous topics from Indigenous perspectives, meaning that it includes course readings by Indigenous scholars, and present discussions and lectures on the topics from an Indigenous standpoint, rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing. They should also provide opportunities for students to engage with communities and create connections to local

Indigenous peoples. Further, INDGST programs and departments should have a strong faculty base, meaning faculty who ensure that their courses are centered around Indigenous topics, creating space for Indigenous perspectives to be included, and are rooted in Indigenous ways of knowing. While this sample is small, it may reflect the experiences of the larger body of INDGST graduate students locally and globally, however, more research needs to be done with more INDGST MA alumni to gather more data to determine if the following analysis has a broader application.

REFERENCES

Interviews:

Corbin, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. August 24th, 2022.

Ira, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. August 2nd, 2022.

Leon, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. June 29th, 2022.

Leonora, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. March 16th, 2022.

Louise, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. April 29th, 2022.

Millie, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. March 21st, 2022.

MJ, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. April 19th, 2022.

Natalie, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. May 10th, 2022.

Sam, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. Jun 26th, 2022.

Yada, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. March 15th, 2022.

Yahlnaaw, Interview by author, Personal Interview. Zoom. May 6th, 2022.

Secondary Literature:

- Adams, Michael. 2020. "Indigenous Postgraduate Education: An Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Standpoint." In *Indigenous Postgraduate Education: Intercultural Perspectives*, edited by Karen Trimmer, Debra Hoven and Pigga Keskitalo, 153-164. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Ambler, Marjane. 2005. "While globalizing their movement, tribal colleges import ideas." *Tribal College: Journal of American Indian Higher Education* 16 (4) 1-5. https://tribalcollegejournal.org/globalizing-movement-tribal-colleges-import-ideas/
- American Indian Higher Education Consortium. 1999. "Tribal Colleges: An Introduction." http://www.aihec.org/who-we-serve/docs/TCU_intro.pdf
- Anderson, Kim and Jaime Cidro. 2019. "Decades of Doing: Indigenous Women Academics Reflect on the Practices of Community-Based Health Research." *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics* 14 (3): 222-233. https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264619835707

- Bailey, Kerry A. 2020. "Indigenous students: resilient and empowered in the midst of racism and lateral violence." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 43 (6): 1032-1051. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2019.1626015
- Beatty, Bonita and Arnette Weber-Beeds. 2013. "Mitho-Pimatisiwin for the Elderly: The Strength of a Shared Caregiving Approach in Aboriginal Health." In *Well-Being in the Urban Aboriginal Community: Fostering Biimaadiziwin*, edited by David Newhouse, Kevin FitzMaurice, Tricia McGuire Adams, and Daniel Jetté, 113-129. Toronto, ON: Thompson Educational Publishing Inc.
- Brayboy, Brian McKinley Jones, Amy J. Fann, Angelina E. Castagno and Jessica A. Solyom. 2012. *Post-Secondary Education for American Indian and Alaska Natives: Higher Education for Nation Building and Self-Determination*. New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons.
- Brayboy, Brian McKinley Jones, Jessica A. Solyom and Angelina E. Castagno. 2015. "Indigenous Peoples in Higher Education." *Journal of American Education* 54 (1): 154-186. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5749/jamerindieduc.54.1.0154
- Bull, Cheryl Crazy, Guillory, Justin. 2018. "Revolution in Higher Education: Identity and Cultural Beliefs Inspire Tribal Colleges and Universities." *Daedalus* 147 (2): 95-105. https://doi.org/10.1162/DAED_a_00493
- Castleden, Heather, Vanessa Sloan Morgan, and Christopher Lamb. 2012. "'I spent the first year drinking tea': Exploring Canadian university researchers' perspectives on community-based participatory research involving Indigenous peoples." *The Canadian Geographer/Le Géographe canadien* 56 (2): 160-179. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.2012.00432.x
- Champagne, Duane. 1996. "American Indian Studies is for Everyone." *American Indian Quarterly* 20 (1): 77-82. https://doi.org/10.2307/1184943
- Coburn, Elaine. 2013. "Indigenous Research as Resistance." *Socialist Studies / Études Socialistes* 9 (1): 52-63. https://doi.org/10.18740/S40017
- Cook-Lynn, Elizabeth. 1997. "Who Stole Native American Studies" *Wicazo Sa Review* 1 (1-2): 9-28. https://doi.org/10.2307/1409161
- Cram, Fiona and Hazel Philips. 2012. "Claiming Interstitial Space for Multicultural, Transdisciplinary Research Through Community-Up Values." In *International Journal of Critical Indigenous Studies* 5 (2): 36-49. https://doi.org/10.5204/ijcis.v5i2.89
- Dei, Sefa J and Alireza Asgharzadeh. 2001. "The Power of Social Theory: The Anti-Colonial Discursive Framework." *The Journal of Educational Thought (JET)* 35 (3): 297-323. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23767242

- Gaski, Harald. 2013. "Indigenism and Cosmopolitanism: A Pan-Sámi view of the Indigenous Perspective in Sámi Culture and Research." *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples* 9 (2): 113-124. https://doi.org/10.1177/117718011300900201
- Gaudry, Adam, Danielle E. Lorenz. 2018. "Decolonization for the Masses? Grappling with Indigenous Content Requirements in the Changing Canadian Post-Secondary Environment." In *Indigenous and Decolonizing Studies in Education*, edited by Linda Tuhiwai Smith, Eve Tuck and K. Wayne Yang, 159-174. New York: Routledge.
- Gjerpe, Kajsa Kemi. 2020. "Academic Higher Education: Building Capacity for Indigenous Peoples." In *Indigenous Postgraduate Education: Intercultural Perspectives*, edited by Karen Trimmer, Debra Hoven and Pigga Keskitalo, 245-250. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Gray, Lisa M., Gina Wong-Wylie, Gwen R. Rempel, and Karen Cook. 2020. "Expanding Qualitative Research Interviewing Strategies: Zoom Video Communications." *The Qualitative Report* 25 (5): 1292-1301. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4212
- Harris, Heather. 2002. "Coyote goes to School: The Paradox of Indigenous Higher Education." Canadian Journal of Native Education 26 (2): 187-196. https://doi.org/10.14288/cjne.v26i2.195930
- Helander, Hanna. 2020. "My Journey into the Sámi Storytelling Tradition." In *Indigenous Postgraduate Education: Intercultural Perspectives*, edited by Karen Trimmer, Debra Hoven and Pigga Keskitalo, 189-199. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Herbert, Jeannie. 2010. "Indigenous Studies: Tool of Empowerment Within the Academe." *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education* 39 (1): 23-31.
- Hirvonen, Vuokko. 2009. "Sámi jurdaseami ja oahppanvugiid fievrrideapmi oahpahussii ja dutkamii (Transforming Sámi knowledge and pedagogy to education and research)." In *Sámi Oahpahus Sámi Dutkan Sámi Ásahus, Sámi Allaskuvvla 20 jagi*, edited by Keskitalo, Jan Henry, Kristine Nystad and Torunn Pettersen, 47-52. Kautokeino: Sámi Allaskuvvla.
- Hollinsworth, David. 2014. "Unsettling Australian Settler Supremacy: Combating Resistance in University Aboriginal Studies." *Race, Ethnicity and Education* 19 (2): 412-432.
- Holmes, Leilani. 2000. "Heart Knowledge, Blood Memory, and the Voice of the Land: Implications of Research among Hawaiian Elders." In *Indigenous Knowledge in Global Contexts: Multiple Readings of Our World*, edited by George J. Sefa Dei, Dorothy Goldin Rosenberg, and Budd L. Hall, 37-53. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Indspire. 2018. "Post-Secondary Experience of Indigenous Students Following the Truth and Reconciliation Commission. Summary of Survey Findings." 2018. Last modified

- September 2018. https://indspire.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/PSE-Experience-Indigenous-Students-Survey-Summary-Sept2018.pdf
- Innes, Robert A. 2009. "Wait a Second. Who Are You Anyways?": The Insider/Outsider Debate and American Indian Studies" *The American Indian Quarterly* 33 (4): 440-461. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40388481
- —. 2010. "Introduction: Native Studies and Native Cultural Preservation, Revitalization and Persistence." *American Indian Culture and Research Journal* 34 (2): 1-9. https://doi.org/10.17953/aicr.34.2.y13028v6060344w9
- Junka-Aikio, Laura. 2019. "Institutionalization, Neo-politicization and the Politics of Defining Sami Research." *ACTA BOREALIA* 36 (1): 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/08003831.2019.1607074
- Keskitalo, Alf Isak. 1994. "Research as an Inter-Ethnic Relation." *Arctic Centre Reports*, 11. Rovaniemi: Artic Center and Sámi Instituthtta.
- Kleinfeld, Judith and Justin T. Andrews. 2006. "The Gender Gap in Higher Education in Alaska." *Arctic* 59 (4): 428-434. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40512846
- Kirkness, Verna J. and Ray Branhardt. 2001. "First Nations Higher Education: The Four R's Respect, Relevance, Reciprocity, Responsibility." In *Knowledge Across Cultures*, edited by Ruth Hayhoe, 1-18. Hong Kong: Comparative Education Research Centre.
- Kovach, Margaret. 2009. *Indigenous Methodologies: Characteristics, Conversations, and Context.* Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- —. 2010. "Conversation Method in Indigenous Studies." *First Peoples Child and Family Review* 5 (1): 40-48. https://doi.org/10.7202/1069060ar
- Kulchyski, Peter. 2000. "What is Native Studies?" In *Expressions in Canadian Native Studies*, edited by Ron F. Laliberte, Priscilla Settee, James B. Waldram, Rob Innes, Brenda Macdougall, Lesley McBain and F. Laurie Barron, 13-26. Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: University Extension Press.
- Kuokkanen, Rauna. 2000. "Towards an "Indigenous Paradigm" From a Sámi Perspective." The *Canadian Journal of Native Studies* 20 (2): 411-436. https://rauna.net/wp-content/uploads/2010/05/cjns-2000-20-2.pdf
- —. 2005. "Láhi and Attáldat: The Philosophy of the Gift and Sámi Education." *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education* 34 (1): 20-33. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1326011100003938
- Lomawaima, K. Tsiania. 2007. "Remarks for Friday morning plenary session, Indigenous & Native Studies meeting." Plenary Remarks, University of Oklahoma, Last modified May

- 3-5 2007. https://8hb5ec.a2cdn1.secureserver.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Lomawaima_Plenary_Remarks_OU_0.pdf
- MacLean, Melanie, & Linda Wason-Ellam. 2006. "When Aboriginal and Métis teachers use storytelling as an instructional practice: A grant report to the Aboriginal Education Research Network, Saskatchewan Learning." Saskatoon, SK: University of Saskatchewan.
- Marroquín, C. 2020. "The validation of the North American Indigenous college students' inventory (NAICSI)." *Journal of American Indian Education* 59 (1): 73–97. https://doi.org/10.5749/jamerindieduc.59.1.0073
- McGloin, Colleen. 2015. "Listening to hear: Critical allies in Indigenous Studies." *Australian Journal of Adult Learning* 55 (2): 267-282. https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/ielapa.329714556829580
- McLeod, Neal. 2000. "Indigenous Studies: Negotiating the Space Between Tribal Communities and Academia." In *Expressions in Canadian Native Studies*, edited by Ron F. Laliberte, Priscilla Settee, James B. Waldram, Rob Innes, Brenda Macdougall, Lesley McBain and F. Laurie Barron, 27-39. Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: University Extension Press.
- Michell, Herman. 2015. "Bush Cree Storytelling Methodology: Northern Stories that Teach, Heal and Transform." *Education* 21 (2): 171-178. https://doi.org/10.37119/ojs2015.v21i2.213
- Öhman, May-Britt. 2017. "Kolonisationen, rasismen och intergenerationella trauman: Analys, reflektioner och förslag utifrån ett skriande behov av samiskLEDD forskning och undervisning." Uppsala University Publications.
- Olsen, T.A. 2016. "Responsibility, reciprocity and respect. On the ethics of (self-) representation and advocacy in Indigenous studies." In *Ethics in Indigenous research. Past experiences—Future challenges*, edited by A.L. Drugge. Umeå: Vaartoe—Center for Sami research, Umeå University.
- Oral History Association. 2020. "Remote Interviewing Resources." Accessed April 30, 2021. https://www.oralhistory.org/remote-interviewing-resources/
- Ottmann, Jaqueline. 2017. "Canada's Indigenous Peoples Access to Post-Secondary Education: The Spirit of the 'New Buffalo." In *Indigenous Pathway, Transitions, and Participation in Higher Education*, edited by Jack Frawley, James A. Smith, and Steve Larkin, 95-117. Cham: Springer Nature.
- Oxendine, S. D., Taub, D., & Cain, E. J. 2020. "Factors related to Native American students' perceptions of campus culture." *Journal of College Student Development* 61 (3): 267–280. http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/csd.2020.0027

- Page, Susan. 2014. "Exploring New Conceptualisations of Old Problems: Researching and Reorienting Teaching in Indigenous Studies to Transform Student Learning." *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education* 43 (1): 21-30. https://doi.org/10.1017/jie.2014.4
- Peacock, Thomas. 2013. "Teaching as Story." In *Centering Anishinaabe Studies: Understanding the World Through Stories*, edited by Jill Doerfler et.al. 103-115. Michigan: Michigan State University Press.
- Porsanger, Jelena. 2004. "An Essay About Indigenous Methodology." *Nordlit* 15: 105-120. https://ninum.uit.no/bitstream/handle/10037/906/article.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Porsanger, Jelena, Irja Seurujärvi-Kari and Ragnhild Lydia Nystad. 2021. "Shared Remembering' as a Relational Indigenous Method in Conceptualization of Sámi Women's Leadership." In *Indigenous Research Methodologies in Sámi and Global Context*, edited by Pirjo Kristiina Viranen, Pigga Keskitalo and Torjer Olsen, 144-174. Leiden: Brille Sense.
- R. A. Malatest & Associates LTD. 2002. *Best practices in increasing Aboriginal post-secondary enrollment rates. Council of Ministers of Education*. May 2002. Accessed June 20th, 2021. https://epub.sub.uni-hamburg.de//epub/volltexte/2013/18934/pdf/malatest.en.pdf
- —. 2010. Promising practices: Increasing and supporting participation for Aboriginal students in Ontario. Toronto: Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario. 2010. Accessed June 20th, 2021.
 https://www.afn.ca/uploads/files/education2/promising_practices_increasing_and_supporting_participation_for_aboriginal_students_in_ontario-_2010.pdf
- Restoule, J., Mashford-Pringle, A., Chacaby, M., Smillie, C., Brunette, C., & Russell, G. 2013. "Supporting successful transitions to post-secondary education for Indigenous students: Lessons from an institutional ethnography in Ontario, Canada." *International Indigenous Policy Journal* 4 (4): 1–12.
- Roy, Chandra K. 2004. "Indigenous Women: A Gender Perspective." *Aboriginal Policy Research Consortium International (APRCi)*. 194.
- Ross, Terris, Grace Kena, Amy Rathbun, Angelina KewalRamani, Jijun Zhang, Paul Kristapovich, Eileen Manning. 2012. *Higher Education: Gaps in Access and Persistence Study* (NCES 2012-046). U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Educational Statistics. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Schnarch, Brian. 2004. "Ownership, Control, Access, and Possession (OCAP) or Self-Determination Applied to Research: A Critical Analysis of Contemporary First Nations Research and Some Options for First Nations Communities." *Journal of Aboriginal Health* 1 (1): 80-95.

- Smith, Linda T. [1999] 2013. *Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples*. London: Zed Books.
- Stordahl, Vigdis. 2008. "Nation Building Through Knowledge Building: The Discourse of Sámi Higher Education and Research in Norway." In *Indigenous Peoples: Self-Determination, Knowledge, and Indigeneity*, edited by Henry Minde, 249-266. Vrendenburg: Eburon Academic Publisher.
- Taner, Shona. 1999. "The Evolution of Native Studies in Canada: Descending from the Ivory Tower." *The Canadian Journal of Native Studies* 19 (2): 289-319.
- The University of Winnipeg. n.d. "Master of Arts in Indigenous Governance." Master in Indigenous Governance. Accessed December 11th 2022. https://www.uwinnipeg.ca/maig/index.html
- Thingnes, Jorunn Simensen. 2020. "Making linguistic choices at a Sámi University: negotiating visions and demands." *Current Issues in Language Planning* 21 (2): 153-174. https://doi.org/10.1080/14664208.2019.1671712
- Thornton, Russell.1978. "American Indian Studies as an Academic Discipline." *American Indian Culture and Research Journal* 2 (3-4): 10-19. https://doi.org/10.17953/aicr.35.1.04638323085j4659
- —. 1998. Institutional and Intellectual Histories of Native American Studies." In Studying Native America: Problems and Prospects. Madison, Wisconsin: The University of Wisconsin Press.
- Thuen, Trond. 1995. *Quest for Equity: Norway and the Sami Challenge*. St. Johns: Institute of Social and Economic Research, Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- Trimmer, Karen, Debra Hoven and Pigga Keskitalo. 2020. *Indigenous Postgraduate Education: Intercultural Perspectives*. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- UiT. n.d. "Indigenous Studies master." UiT Norges Arktiske Universitet. Accessed March 1st, 2023. https://uit.no/utdanning/program/270446/indigenous studies master
- UNBC. n.d. "MA First Nations Studies Program Information." First Nations Studies. Accessed November 15th 2022. https://www2.unbc.ca/first-nations-studies/ma-fnst-program-information
- University of Lethbridge. n.d. "Department of Indigenous Studies." Faculty of Arts and Science. Accessed November 15th, 2022. https://www.ulethbridge.ca/artsci/indigenous-studies
- Virtanen, Pirjo Kristiina, Torjer Olsen, and Pigga Keskitalo. 20201. "Contemporary Indigenous Research Within Sámi and Global Indigenous Studies Context." In *Indigenous Research*

- *Methodologies in Sámi and Global Context*, edited by Pirjo Kristiina Viranen, Pigga Keskitalo and Torjer Olsen, 7-32. Leiden: Brille Sense.
- Walton, Patrick, Kristsen Hamilton, Natalie Clark, Michelle Pidgeon, and Mike Arnouse. 2020. "Indigenous University Student Persistence: Support, Obstacles, and Recommendations." *Canadian Journal of Education* 42 (2): 431-464. https://journals.sfu.ca/cje/index.php/cjerce/article/view/3975
- Wheeler, Winona. 2001. "Thoughts on the Responsibilities of Indigenous/Native Studies" *Canadian Journal of Native Studies* 21 (1): 97-104.
- Wiers-Jenssen, Jannecke. 2019. "Paradoxical Attraction? Why an Increasing Number of International Students Choose Norway." *Journal of Studies of International Education* 23 (2): 281-298. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315318786449
- Wilson, Shawn. 2001. "What is Indigenous Research methodology?" *Canadian Journal of Native Education* 25 (2): 175-179.
- —. 2008. *Research is Ceremony*. Halifax: Fernwood Publishing.
- Wolfe, Patrick. 2006. "Settler Colonialism and the Elimination of the Native." *Journal of Genocide Research* 8 (4): 387-409. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623520601056240

Interview Questions for Indigenous Studies Alumni

Why did you choose to do your master's in Indigenous Studies?

Why did you choose to get your degree at your chosen university?

What expectations did you have before entering the program?

Did the available courses reflect your interests?

How did your coursework reflect Indigenous perspectives or worldviews?

Did your program have an experiential learning component, community service and or, land-based component(s)?

What kinds of support(s) did your program provide you and other MA students?

Did your MA prepare you for the work you are currently doing? Why, why not?

Did your plans for your future change as you went through the program? If so, how/why?

Did you have any guidance during your program, or as you were graduating concerning what you wanted to do afterwards?

Looking back, did your program meet your expectations (or not)? Please explain.

What did your cohort look like (Indigenous/gender/demographics)?

Now that you have finished your degree in Indigenous Studies, how would you describe or define the discipline?

Is there anything else you would like to share about your experience as an INDGST MA student?